UNIVERSITY OF SPLIT SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

HOLGER GÖBEL, MD

CYTOTOXIC AND IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE INFLAMMATORY CELLS PREDICT REGRESSION AND PROGNOSIS FOLLOWING NEOADJUVANT RADIOCHEMOTHERAPY OF OESOPHAGEAL ADENOCARCINOMA

DISSERTATION

Split, 2023

UNIVERSITY OF SPLIT SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

HOLGER GÖBEL, MD

CYTOTOXIC AND IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE INFLAMMATORY CELLS PREDICT REGRESSION AND PROGNOSIS FOLLOWING NEOADJUVANT RADIOCHEMOTHERAPY OF OESOPHAGEAL ADENOCARCINOMA

DISSERTATION

Mentors:

Prof. Dr. Gerhard Grabenbauer Prof. Dr. Thomas Aigner

Split, 2023

Institutions

Department of Gastroenterology, REGIOMED Klinikum Lichtenfels, Germany Department of Radiation Oncology, REGIOMED Klinikum Coburg, Germany Department of Pathology, REGIOMED Klinikum Coburg, Germany

Mentors

Prof. Dr. Gerhard Grabenbauer Prof. Dr. Thomas Aigner

Acknowledgments

I thank Prof. Gerhard Grabenbauer, Prof. Thomas Aigner, both REGIOMED Klinikum Coburg, Germany, Prof. Luitpold Distel, Prof. Maike Büttner-Herold, both Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Germany, Prof. Ivana Kolčić, and Prof. Ana Jerončić, both University of Split, School of Medicine, Croatia (USSM), for excellent methodical support and huge personal commitment.

Dedication

To my family

The present work was performed in fulfilment of the requirements for obtaining the PhD degree within the Clinical Evidence-Based Medicine postgraduate program at USSM.

Parts of the dissertation have been published in (1, 2):

Göbel HH, Büttner-Herold MJ, Fuhrich N, Aigner T, Grabenbauer GG, Distel LVR. Cytotoxic and immunosuppressive inflammatory cells predict regression and prognosis following neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Radiotherapy and Oncology 2020; 146:151–60.

Göbel HH, Distel LVR, Aigner T, Büttner-Herold MJ, Grabenbauer GG. PD-1 and PD-L1 expression predict regression and prognosis following neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Clinical and Translational Radiation Oncology 2022; 34:90–8.

Table of Contents

Introduction	7
Aims and Hypotheses	
Patients and Methods	
Patient cohort	
Immunohistochemistry and evaluation of TIC	15
Statistical analysis	
Results	20
Surgery analysis	20
Tumour regression	20
Survival analysis	21
Alteration of immunologic markers	29
Discussion	
Influence of pretherapeutic clinical and immunologic parameters on TRG	
Influence of pretherapeutic immunologic parameters on survival	35
- CD8+ density	35
- FoxP3+ and CD8+ interactions	
- Macrophages parameters	38
- PD-L1 and PD-1 expression	39
Influence of RCT on TIC density and ratio	40
Postoperative mortality and impact of surgery on survival	
Limitations	
Conclusion	43
Abstract in Croatian Language	44
Abstract in English Language	45
Additional Tables and Figures	46
References	61
Biographical note	69

Table 1. Definitions and categories	6
Table 2. Patients' characteristics	14
Table 3. Pretherapeutic variables with possible impact on favourable tumour regression after RCT	
(risk analysis of prognostic factors)	46
Table 4. Uni- and multivariate analysis of variables with possible impact on OS	47
Table 5. Uni- and multivariate analysis of variables with possible impact on DFS	49
Table 6. Uni- and multivariate analysis of variables with possible impact on NED	51

Figure 1. Distribution of CD8+ and FoxP3+ cells
Figure 2. CONSORT diagram of patient selection
Figure 3. Evaluation of FoxP3+, CD8+, CD68+ and CD163+ tumour infiltrating cells, and PD-1 and
PD-L1 expression in adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and the oesophagogastric junction
Figure 4. Identification of compartments and tumour infiltrating cells
Figure 5. Pretherapeutic variables with possible impact on favourable tumour regression after RCT
(risk analysis of prognostic factors)
Figure 6. Kaplan-Meier survival curves of the whole cohort
Figure 7. Influence of pretherapeutic immunologic parameters on overall survival
Figure 8. Dependence of overall survival on PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area
Figure 9. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on overall survival
Figure 10. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in peritumoural area on overall survival
Figure 11. Correlation of PD-L1 and PD-1 expression in tumoural and peritumoural area
Figure 12. Influence of combined PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on overall survival 29
Figure 13. TIC densities and FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distances
Figure 14. PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural and peritumoural area, pre- and post-RCT 32
Figure 15. Influence of peritumoural CD8+ density on anticancer-immunity
Figure 16. Effects of FoxP3+ to CD8+ distance in different microenvironments according to
intratumoural CD8+ density
Figure 17. Effects of a high FoxP3/CD8+ ratio on TRG and prognosis
Figure 18. Influence of pretherapeutic immunologic parameters on DFS
Figure 19. Influence of pretherapeutic immunologic parameters on NED
Figure 20. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on disease free survival
Figure 21. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in peritumoural area on disease free survival 56
Figure 22. Influence of combined PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on disease free
survival
Figure 23. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on NED survival
Figure 24. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in peritumoural area on NED survival
Figure 25. Influence of combined PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on NED survival 60

List of Abbreviations

Antigen presenting cells
Combined positive score
Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes
Disease free survival
Forkhead box P3
Hazard ratio
Major histocompatibility complex
Neoadjuvant chemotherapy
No evidence of disease
Neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy
Oesophageal adenocarcinoma
Oesophageal cancer
Overall survival
Oesophageal squamous cell cancer
Programmed cell death protein 1
Programmed cell death ligand-1
Radiochemotherapy
Risk difference
Relative risk
Tissue microarray
Tumour associated macrophages
Tumour infiltrating cells
Tumour infiltrating lymphocytes
Regulatory T-cells
Tumour regression grade
University of Split School of Medicine

Siewert AEG type (3)	Classification of adenocarcinomas of the oesophagogastric junction according to the centre of the tumour in relation to the oesophagogastric junction: I = -5 to -1 cm II = -1 to $+2$ cm III = +2 to $+5$ cm
Mandard TRG (4)	Grade of histological tumour regression after neoadjuvant RCT of oesophageal carcinoma: 1 = complete regression 2 = rare residual cancer 3 = increased number of residual cells, predominantly fibrosis 4 = residual cancer outgrowing fibrosis 5 = no regressive changes
PD-L1/PD-1 expression	(Number of positive cells)/(total number of cells), estimated 0 = <1% $1 = \ge 1\%$ to $<10\%$ $2 = \ge 10\%$ to $<50\%$ $3 = \ge 50\%$ Positive Score = $\ge 1\%$
OS, DFS and NED (5)	Survival endpoints in studies subsuming different events: <i>OS: Overall survival;</i> time to death, irrespective of cause. <i>DFS: Disease free survival;</i> time to any event, irrespective of cause. All events are included, except of loss to follow-up. <i>NED: No evidence of disease</i> (synonymous TTR = time to recurrence); time to any event related to the same cancer (recurrence and death). Deaths from other cancers, non-cancer- related deaths, treatment-related deaths, and loss to follow-up are censored observations. <i>Events:</i> locoregional recurrence, distant metastases, second primary same cancer, second primary other cancer, death from same cancer, death from other cancer, non-cancer-related death, treatment-related death, loss to follow-up
Ivor-Lewis-procedure (6)	Radical oesophagectomy by laparatomy and right-sided thoracotomy followed by an immediate intrathoracic gastrooesophageal anastomosis.

AEG adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction, TRG tumour regression grade, RCT radiochemotherapy, OS overall survival, DFS disease free survival, NED no evidence of disease

Introduction

In the top ten of worldwide cancer incidences, oesophageal cancer (OC) ranks in the lower third. In 2018, it was the ninth most common cancer worldwide with an age standardised incidence of about 5.5 for both sexes. On the other hand, it was the sixth leading death of cancer due to a rapid progression and a low five-year survival rate of about 20%. More than 80% of cases and deaths occur in developing countries, especially in the so called "Asian oesophageal cancer belt" (beginning from the East of Turkey to the East Asian countries), and in Eastern and Southern Africa with an age standardised incidence of up to 22 in men, in some regions up to 100 (7–9). In developing countries, oesophageal squamous cell cancer (OSCC) is the vast predominant histological subtype, whereas in the Western industrialised countries 40–50% of OC are oesophageal adenocarcinomas (OAC). Here, the incidence of OAC increased enormously in the last five decades (probably reaching a plateau in the last 15 years), and in some countries it exceeds that of OSCC (10, 11). For 2012, the worldwide incidence of OAC was estimated around 52,000 cases (12), and the five-year mortality in Sweden from 2010 to 2013 was about 85% (13).

The increase of OAC in Western industrialised countries may be due to changes in lifestyle and a steady rise of reflux disease (14), since gastro-oesophageal reflux disease, Barrett's oesophagus and obesity are considered to be risk factors for OAC, but not for OSCC, whereas tobacco use increases the risk of both entities, and alcohol consumption is associated with an increased risk of OSCC, but not of OAC (10).

In limited disease (cT1–T2 N0 M0), resection is the treatment of choice, in very early stages (in OAC T1a without other risk criteria) by endoscopic therapy, otherwise by surgery. In locally advanced disease (cT3–T4 or cN1-3 M0), surgery alone is not recommended, since a complete tumour resection cannot be achieved in about 30% (T3) to 50% (T4) of cases, and even after complete tumour resection, long-term survival rarely exceeds 20% (15). At this stage of disease, both neoadjuvant chemotherapy (nCT) and neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy (nRCT) are able to reduce overall mortality significantly (16–19). To the present, the optimal multimodality treatment for oesophageal adenocarcinoma remains undetermined, but nRCT seems to be superior to nCT in local tumour control, and in patients treated without radiotherapy, survival and recurrence depend significantly on the extent of lymph node harvest (20, 21). Irrespectively of these considerations, it seems widely accepted that nRCT in locally advanced stages can decrease overall mortality by about 25% (18, 19).

In the Dutch CROSS trial (18), however, 19% of the patients had minor or no response to radiochemotherapy (RCT). Since tumour regression grade (TRG) is an important prognostic factor (22), this subgroup of patients will probably have no prognostic benefit, and hence experience mainly toxicity by neoadjuvant therapy. On the other hand, it is still not clear whether patients with response to RCT will benefit from subsequent surgery (23, 24). Therefore, it is of paramount clinical interest to identify biomarkers in pre-RCT biopsies which can predict the response to RCT and may influence the prognosis of the patients.

Apart from preliminary data on possibly predictive markers including p53, SOX2 (25), ERCC1, DPYD, ERBB2 (26) and stromal-derived interleukin 6 (27), specific interest has recently arisen from the investigation of the complex tumour microenvironment. It is well established that fibroblasts, endothelial cells, blood vessels, lymph vessels, and cells of the immune system are in intensive contact with tumour cells and influence development of cancer in a great extent. Especially, adaptive immune cell infiltration was shown to have a superior prognostic value, leading to an ongoing process of constituting a TNM-I (TNM-Immune) tumour classification based on an Immunoscore stratification (28–30).

Immune cell infiltration of tumour and peritumour tissue has to be considered as a complex network of interactions, where tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL), such as CD8+ and FoxP3+ TIL (31–36), and tumour associated macrophages (TAM), such as CD68+ and CD163+ TAM (37, 38), have central relevance for modifying the tumour microenvironment.

CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CTL) are regarded as key players in anticancer surveillance. They are able to recognize cellular alterations presented by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I, and subsequently to mediate cytotoxicity. To maintain immunological self-tolerance, they are controlled on multiple levels, primarily in the thymus. Some self-reactive CTL, however, escape the negative selection in the thymus and have to be controlled by peripheral tolerance mechanisms, mainly by the activity of regulatory T-cells (Treg). Treg derive from natural and activated CD4+ T-cells and express the protein "forkhead box P3" (FoxP3), which acts as a master regulator of transcription and is critically important for the differentiation of Treg. On the other hand, presence of self-reactive CTL is necessary to combat cancer development, as tumour cells mainly express endogenous antigens and may not produce any molecules that can activate dendritic cells. So, the right balance of activation and control of CTL is extremely important in the surveillance of autoimmunity and tumour genesis (39, 40). In this context, it has to be taken into account that with chronic antigen exposure, effector

T-cells can lose their functional activity, becoming progressively exhausted (recoverable), accompanied by low expression of programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), or even hyperexhausted (unrecoverable), along with high levels of PD-1 (41–43). Furthermore, it has to been kept in mind that FoxP3+ T-cells are composed of heterogeneous subpopulations. Besides suppressive Treg (naïve and effector Treg), there exist activated non-Treg FoxP3+ T-cells without suppression function. Most cancers are infiltrated predominantly by effector Treg. Not surprisingly, in those cases decreased ratios of CD8+ to FoxP3+ cells or high frequency of FoxP3+ cells were shown to correlate with poor prognosis, especially in patients with breast, gastric and ovarian cancer, and in patients with solid tumours in the cervix, kidney, breast, and melanomas, respectively. In contrast, in Hodgkin lymphoma or colorectal cancer, some studies indicated a better prognosis in patients with high tumour infiltration of FoxP3+ cells, whereas others showed the contrary. These contradictory results may be due to the fact that heterogeneity of FoxP3+ subpopulations was omitted to be taken into consideration (44).

Given the dilemma to interpret this extraordinary complexity, a key could be to look at the final result of the diverse differentiations and interactions, and to focus on the functional activity of TIL in the prevailing tumour environment. The idea is that spatial distribution of CD8+ CTL and FoxP3+ cells may reflect their functional interactions, since Treg suppress immune response by cytokines and cell-to-cell contact (45), both needing a certain proximity. Thus, in an environment where cell-to-cell distances of CD8+ CTL and FoxP3+ cells are significantly shorter than random distances, functional interactions may be assumed (*Figure 1*). Recently, the Erlangen Radiotherapy study group presented comprehensive data for gastric, rectal and anal cancer that the analysis of cell-to-cell distances may offer a tool to predict outcome, supporting the hypothesis that short cell-to-cell distances may identify functionally active, interacting infiltrating inflammatory cells in different tumour compartments (46–48).



Figure 1. Distribution of CD8+ and FoxP3+ cells.

A Random distribution

B Short distances, possibly indicating functional activity of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes

Macrophages constitute a dominant fraction of tumour infiltrating cells (TIC). They are recruited by tumour derived signals and – depending on the tumour microenvironment – subsequently polarized toward an M1 or M2 phenotype, within most solid malignancies to an M2 phenotype. M2 macrophages, in turn, foster a microenvironment that supports tumour evolution by promoting tumour angiogenesis, providing growth factors, facilitating invasion and metastasis, and protecting developing tumours from adaptive immunosurveillance. However, macrophages polarized to an M1 phenotype may show potent antitumour properties. They are able to eliminate tumour cells, to inhibit tumour-induced angiogenesis, and to deplete tumour-associated stromal fibrosis. Moreover, depending on their phenotype, macrophages regulate T-cell activity. They are able to suppress T-cell activation and even induce T-cell exhaustion, and, on the other hand, sustain T-cell activation. CD68 is a general marker for macrophages, most subgroups of M2 macrophages are CD163 positive (49, 50).

PD-1 is an inhibitory receptor on T-cells which was initially considered as a regulator of cell death, but it is now recognized that its main function is to act as an immune checkpoint receptor to maintain immune tolerance. Activation of the T-cell antigen receptor and cytokine receptors induce PD-1 expression, and up-regulation of PD-1 is necessary for the termination of the immune response. PD-L1 and PD-L2 are the ligands for PD-1. They are expressed on antigen presenting cells (APC), like dendritic cells, and on a wide variety of nonhematopoietic cell types, like vascular endothelial cells. But PD-L1 (to a lesser extent, PDL-2) is also expressed in several cancers. By this mechanism, termed "adaptive immune resistance", cancer cells protect themselves from attack by the immune system (51, 43). In the last years, treatment with PD-1 and PD-L1 antibodies led to a substantial progress in anticancer therapy of many tumour

entities like melanoma, non-small-cell lung carcinoma, Hodgkin lymphoma, head-neck cancer, squamous cell carcinoma of the oesophagus, pleural mesothelioma, breast, renal, urothelial, hepatocellular, colorectal (MSI-H), endometrial and cervical carcinoma. Several studies also investigated PD-1 and PD-L1 antibody treatment in gastric carcinoma and adenocarcinoma of the oesophagogastric junction (52, 53), and based on KEYNOTE-590 (54) and on CheckMate 649 (55), the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) approved Pembrolizumab and Nivolumab as first-line therapy for this indication under certain conditions in 2021.

Only few publications regarding anticancer surveillance deal with OAC. Data addressing the role of FoxP3+ and CD8+ TIL mainly focussed on surgical approach only (32, 56, 57), or were obtained from posttherapeutic specimens (33). Moreover, results considering their influence on prognosis are conflicting, and data of pretherapeutic immunologic tumour parameters predictive for response to RCT and prognosis of patients are lacking. Regarding PD-L1 and PD-1 expression, there is uncertainty about a reasonable threshold to classify into positive and negative groups with respect to prognosis. Thus, there is urgent need to contribute reliable data in order to understand the role of relevant biomarkers in this context.

Aims and Hypotheses

It was the primary aim of the present study to investigate immunological markers with possible effects on response to RCT and prognosis of patients with locally advanced, non-metastatic OAC. Therefore, we analysed pre-RCT tumour biopsies and – if available – post-RCT tissue samples, focussing on FoxP3+, CD8+, CD68+ and CD163+ tumour infiltrating cells and on the expression of PD-L1 and PD-1. We hypothesize that the prognostic value of immunologic biomarkers may be enhanced by including parameters of possibly functional activity, such as cell ratios and FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distance. A secondary aim was to study possible alterations of the immunological markers induced by RCT.

Patients and Methods

Patient cohort

Patient selection and characteristics are summarized in *Figure 2* and *Table 2*, definitions and categories in *Table 1*.

Between October 2004 and June 2018, 106 patients with locally advanced, non-metastatic OAC and AEG (3) were treated at the Coburg Cancer Centre, Germany. In Coburg, a multidisciplinary team was established in 2007, including defined lead clinicians in surgery, medical and radiation oncology, radiology, pathology, and gastroenterology, according to the guidelines of the Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft (German Cancer Society). Staging procedures included upper endoscopy with multiple biopsies of suspicious lesions, endoscopic ultrasound, computed tomography scans of thorax and abdomen with oral and intravenous contrast enhancement (58).

Eighty-eight of the patients underwent neoadjuvant RCT. The total dose of radiation was 50.4 Gy, 73 patients received taxol and infusional 5-fluorouracil (FU), 15 patients platin and FU. Details of diagnostic and therapeutic procedures are described elsewhere (58).

Pretherapeutic biopsies were available from 76 patients (tumoural compartment: 71 specimens, peritumoural: 57), of whom 58 patients underwent radical oesophagectomy by laparatomy and right-sided thoracotomy followed by an immediate intrathoracic gastrooesophageal anastomosis (Ivor-Lewis-procedure (6)). Eighteen patients were not eligible for surgery or refused the procedure.

Of the 76 included patients, 16 patients were female (21%) and 60 male (79%); mean age at the time of diagnosis was 66.4 years (SD \pm 10.5, range 44.3-86.5 years). Median follow-up time for all patients was 18 months (IQR 9-43 months), and 54 months (IQR 25-97 months) for surviving patients.

TRG was categorized according to Mandard (1: complete regression; 2: rare residual cancer; 3: increased number of residual cells, predominantly fibrosis; 4: residual cancer outgrowing fibrosis; 5: no regressive changes) (4).

Informed consent was obtained from all living patients, and the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University-Hospitals of Erlangen (*No. 133_17B*).



Figure 2. CONSORT diagram of patient selection

AEG adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction, RCT radiochemotherapy, Tx therapy, FU infusional 5-fluorouracil, n/a not available

	All patients	Patients with surgery	Patients w/o surgery	p-value ¹
Number	76 (100%)	58 (100%)	18 (100%)	
Gender				
Female	16 (21%)	11 (19%)	5 (28%)	
Male	60 (79%)	47 (81%)	13 (72%)	n.s. ²
Age				
Mean (± SD) - vr	66.4 (±10.5)	64.2 (±9.5)	73.5 (±10.9)	$p=0.001^3$
Range - yr	44.3-86.5	44.3-85.4	48.4-86.5	1
Staging pre-Tx UICC				
I	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	
II	4 (5%)	3 (5%)	1 (6%)	
III	70 (92%)	53 (91%)	17 (94%)	
IV	2 (3%)	2 (3%)	0 (0%)	$n.s.^2$
cTNM cT1	1 (10/)	O(O0/)	1 (60/)	
	1(1%) 12(16%)	0(0%) 10(17%)	1(0%) 2(11%)	
cT2	12(10%) 53(70%)	10(17%) 39(67%)	2(1170) 14(78%)	
cT4	10(13%)	9 (16%)	1 (6%)	$n.s.^{2}$
cN0	12 (16%)	10 (17%)	2 (11%)	
cN+	64 (84%)	48 (83%)	16 (89%)	n.s. ²
cM0	75 (99%)	57 (98%)	18 (100%)	
cM1*	1 (1%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	n.s. ²
Grading pre-Tx (biopsy)				
pG1 & pG2	35 (46%)	28 (48%)	7 (39%)	
pG3	41 (54%)	30 (52%)	11 (61%)	n.s. ²
Localization (3)				
OAC w/o AEG	7 (9%)	4 (7%)	3 (17%)	
AEG Siewert I	40 (53%)	32 (55%)	8 (44%)	
AEG Siewert II	26 (34%)	19 (33%)	7 (39%)	2
AEG Siewert III	3 (4%)	3 (5%)	0 (0%)	$n.s.^2$
Follow-up **				
All patients				
Median (IQR) - months	18 (9-43)	22 (8-62)	16 (13-21)	n.s. ⁴
Patients alive, number =	24 (32%)	20(34%)	4 (22%)	$n.s.^{2}$
Median (IQR) - months	54 (25-97)	08 (34-111)	15 (14-21)	p=0.013
Time from diagnosis to RCT	29 (29 40)	27 (20, 52)	20 (20 47)	4
Median (IQR) - days	38 (28-49)	37 (28-52)	39 (29-47)	n.s.*
<i>Time from diagnosis to surgery</i> Median (IQR) - days		126 (115-140)		
Resection quality				
R0		51 (88%)		
R1		6 (10%)		
R2		1 (2%)		
TRG (Mandard)				
1		20 (34%)		
2		22 (38%)		
3		5 (9%)		
4		9 (10%) 2 (20/)		
5		2 (370) 14		

Table 2. Patients' characteristics

Postoperative mortality		
All patients (age 44.3-85.4 yr)	12/58 (21%)	
Age < 63.1 yr	1/24 (4%)	$p=0.010^2$
Age ≥ 63.1 yr	11/34 (32%)	

RCT radiochemotherapy, *w/o* without, *n.s.* not significant, *SD* standard deviation, *yr* years, *IQR* interquartile range, *Tx* therapy, *UICC* International Union against Cancer, *OAC* oesophageal adenocarcinoma, *AEG* adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction, *TRG* tumour regression grade

* One patient with limited hepatic metastasis firstly underwent liver resection and secondly radical oesophagectomy.

** Last verification: 2019/04/01

Postoperative mortality death caused by a clearly postoperative complication, like bleeding, fistula or insufficiency of the anastomosis, within 20 weeks after surgery; age threshold obtained by ROC analysis

¹ Except "Postoperative mortality", p-value for the difference between patients with and without surgery

² Fisher's exact test, ³ Student's t-test, ⁴ Mann-Whitney-U test

Immunohistochemistry and evaluation of TIC

Tissue microarrays (TMA) with a core diameter of 2 mm were constructed from pretherapeutic biopsies and, if available, from resection specimens according to the original HE and immunohistologically stained slides. Tissue sections were de-paraffinised and one of neighbouring histological sections was HE stained, others were double stained using antibodies against CD8/FoxP3 (Dako/Abcam, Figure 3A), CD68/CD163 (Dako/Leica, Figure 3B), and PD-1/PD-L1 (Cell Marque/Abcam, Figure 3C), respectively. For detection, alkaline phosphatase detection kit (POLAP-100, Zytomed Systems GmbH, Berlin, Germany) with Fast red and Fast blue as chromogens (Sigma-Aldrich, Deisenhofen, Germany) were used according to the manufacturer's instructions. CD68/CD163 double positive cells were considered as M2 macrophages, further referred to as CD163+, remaining CD68+/CD163- cells as M1 macrophages, further referred to as CD68+. We are aware that this is an approximate graduation of macrophages (59). Stained slides were scanned at a magnification of 1:400 (Zeiss, Imager Z2, Göttingen, Germany; Metapher software MetaSystems, Altlussheim, Germany) and transferred to PC. TIC were counted using image analysis software (Biomas Software, Version 3.0; MSAB, Erlangen, Germany). Tumoural and peritumoural compartments were marked separately according to the neighbouring HE stained section (Figure 4), their sizes were calculated automatically, TIC were identified semiautomatically (Figure 3D-F). The compartments were analysed if their size exceeded a minimum of 0.3 mm². To determine

thresholds between high and low cell densities and ratios, ROC analysis was used for TRG, and median for survival analysis, respectively.

As described previously (46–48), the positions of the FoxP3+ and CD8+ cells were used to calculate the mean of the shortest cell-to-cell distances. Since distances are influenced by cell density, cell-to-cell distances of randomly distributed cells with an identical density were simulated in order to compare the random results with the measured distances. The simulation was performed with the aid of Visual Basic for Applications software of the spreadsheet program Excel. Random x and y coordinates of the desired quantity of "cells" were generated and the shortest distances between the cells were calculated and averaged. This procedure was repeated 100 times and the mean of shortest distances was taken as the expected value of randomly distributed cells. If the median of the measured shortest cell-to-cell distance", otherwise as "long cell-to-cell distance". Assuming that interactions between FoxP3+ and CD8+ cells are mediated by direct cell contact and by soluble factors, short cell-to-cell distance was presumed to be functionally interactive.

For PD-1 and PD-L1 categorisation we used a modified score referred to the CPS which is defined as the proportion of the number of positive PD-L1 cells related to the number of tumour cells. Because tumour cells are absent in the peritumoural area, we instead evaluated the percentages of positive cells related to the total number of cells for a better comparison. Category 0 to 3 were defined as an estimated percentage of <1%, $\ge1\%$ to <10%, $\ge10\%$ to <50%, and $\ge50\%$, respectively. According to survival analysis, a percentage of <1% was considered as negative, of $\ge1\%$ as positive (*Figure 8*). At least in tumoural area, our modified score of PD-L1 should be in good approximation to the widely used CPS of PD-L1.



Figure 3. Evaluation of FoxP3+, CD8+, CD68+ and CD163+ tumour infiltrating cells, and PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and the oesophagogastric junction

A: Double staining of FoxP3+ (violet) and CD8+ (blue) tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (400x original magnification). Orange lines: shortest FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distance for some of the cells. Green ellipse: direct cell contact. **B:** Double staining of CD68+ (blue) and CD163+ (violet) tumour associated macrophages. **C:** Double staining of PD-L1 (blue) and PD-1 (brown) expression. **D:** Tissue microarray of a FoxP3+/CD8+ sample. **E:** Corresponding evaluation by image processing (red markers: positions of FoxP3+ cells, blue markers: positions of CD8+ cells). **F:** Evaluation of a CD68+/CD163+ sample; green lines: surroundings of tumoural compartment; orange lines: surroundings of peritumoural compartment; orange lines: CD68+ cells; circles in tumoural compartment and triangles in peritumoural compartment.





A: HE stained section of a tissue microarray (TMA). B: Neighbouring section of (A), double stained for CD68+ (blue) and CD163+ (violet) tumour associated macrophages (TAM). C: Specifying tumour and non-tumour area of (B) according to (A) and semiautomatic identification of TAM. Green lines: surroundings of tumoural compartment; orange lines: surroundings of peritumoural compartment; red markers: CD163+ cells; blue markers: CD68+ cells; circles in tumoural compartment and triangles in peritumoural compartment.
D–F: Details of marked areas (black rectangles) in (A)–(C).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using MedCalc Statistical Software version 20.014 (MedCalc Software bvba, Ostend, Belgium; 2021) and PAST Paleontological Statistics version 3.25 (Oslo, Norway; 2019) (60). Subgroups of patients were compared by Student's t-test, Fisher's exact test, Wilcoxon test and Mann-Whitney-U test. Influence of immunologic markers on TRG was estimated by risk analysis, Pearson's chi-squared test and ROC analysis. Correlation of PD-L1 and PD-1 expression were calculated by Spearman's rank-order correlation. Overall survival (OS), disease free survival (DFS) and no evidence of disease (NED) were analysed by Kaplan-Meier method. NED is defined by time to any event related to the same cancer (recurrence and death) (5). Logrank test and Cox regression (possible

confounders: age, surgery, cN, TRG, resection quality) were used to compare survival between subgroups of patients. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Surgery analysis

After RCT, 76% of the patients underwent surgery, 24% did not (*Table 2*). Patients with surgery following RCT were distinctly younger than those without (mean 64.2 ± 9.5 years and 73.5 ± 10.9 years, respectively, p=0.001), and the median follow-up time of patients being alive at the end of the study was longer in the surgery group (68 (IQR 34-111) months and 15 (IQR 14-21) months, respectively, p=0.013). All other parameters tested (gender, staging, grading, localization, overall follow-up time, time from diagnosis to RCT) did not differ significantly.

Eighty-eight percent of the patients could be resected without residual tumour (R0). Postoperative mortality was 21% and clearly higher among patients \geq 63.1 years compared to younger ones (32% vs. 4%, p=0.010). All deaths caused by any postoperative complication within 20 weeks were defined as postoperative mortality.

Tumour regression

Eighty-one percent of the patients experienced major response to RCT (Mandard regression score 1-3 vs. 4&5, *Table 2*). Among the clinical parameters, only clinically positive nodal disease (cN+) was associated with an unfavourable TRG (p=0.001). Age, depth of tumour infiltration and histological grading of pretherapeutic biopsies had no influence on TRG in risk analysis (*Figure 5, Table 3*).

As for the pretherapeutic immunologic parameters, low intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio (p=0.020), short intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distance (p=0.106), high CD163+/CD68+ ratio (p=0.070 intratumoural, p=0.045 peritumoural) and high intratumoural TAM density (RR p=0.108; RD p=0.023) were associated with a poor TRG of Mandard 4&5. Albeit intratumoural CD8+ densities were higher in complete responders (Mandard 1; median 163 cells/mm², 95% CI 60–203) than in non-complete responders (Mandard 2–5; median 110 cells/mm², 95% CI 64–138), the difference was not significant (p=0.223, Mann-Whitney-U test). A favourable TRG was found in patients with a positive score of PD-L1 expression in the peritumoural area (RR p=0.036; RD p=0.023). PD-L1 expression in the tumoural area and PD-1 expression in both areas had no significant influence on TRG.



Figure 5. Pretherapeutic variables with possible impact on favourable tumour regression after RCT (risk analysis of prognostic factors).

Forest plots of RR (risk ratio) (A) and RD (risk difference) (B). Details in *Table 3*.

RCT radiochemotherapy, *TRG* tumour regression grade, *RR* risk ratio, *RD* risk difference, *CI* confidence interval, *Hi* high, *Tu* in tumoural area, *pTu* in peritumoural area, *Sh* short cell-to-cell distance, *TAM* tumour associated macrophages (CD68+ plus CD163+), *pos* positive expression (\geq 1%)

Favourable TRG: Mandard 1–3 vs. Mandard 4&5

cN+: clinically positive lymph nodes pre-RCT

High ratio (density): The ratio of the cell densities (the density, respectively) in this case is equal to or higher than the best fitting threshold (obtained by ROC-analysis) of all cases. *Short cell-to-cell distance:* The median of measured shortest distances is less than 90% of the mean simulated random ones in this case.

Cell-to-cell distance analysis was omitted, if the count or the density of the markers was less than 2 or less than 2/mm², respectively.

Results of risk analysis, Pearson's chi-squared test and two tailed z-test

Survival analysis

Five-year survival with regard to OS, DFS and NED of the whole cohort were 30%, 24% and 42%, respectively (*Figure 6*). Survival analysis comparing patients with and without surgery revealed no significant difference, neither in univariate nor in multivariate analysis adjusted for age and cN status (OS: p=0.314, DFS: p=0.505, NED: p=0.208; *Table 4, Table 5, Table 6*).

Independent predictors for poor survival among the clinical parameters were "resection quality" adjusted for TRG (R1&2 vs. R0: HR 2.88 [95% CI 1.19-6.98], p=0.020) and TRG adjusted for "resection quality" (Mandard 4&5 vs. 1-3: HR 2.27 [1.06-4.85], p=0.034). Pre-RCT cN+ was linked to a higher mortality compared to cN0 adjusted for surgery (p=0.101). Pretherapeutic cT

staging and histological grading (pG) were not associated with significantly different survival rates.



Figure 6. Kaplan-Meier survival curves of the whole cohort

NED No evidence of disease

Considering pretherapeutic immunologic cell types, overall survival was favourable with high amounts of intratumoural (p=0.125) and low amounts of peritumoural CD8+ lymphocytes (p=0.017; *Figure 7A&B, Figure 18A&B, Figure 19A&B*). Intratumoural FoxP3+ density was not associated with survival (p=0.838; *Figure 7C, Figure 18C, Figure 19C*). A low intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio tended to be favourable (p=0.186; *Figure 7D, Figure 18D, Figure 19D*). Similar results were seen for long intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ distances (p=0.144); the difference was significant excluding cases within lower and upper quintile of CD8+ density (p=0.036; *Figure 7E&F, Figure 18E&F, Figure 19E&F*), or excluding patients who died postoperatively (p=0.030). There was no significant association of intratumoural CD68+ macrophages with survival (p=0.286; *Figure 7G, Figure 18G, Figure 19G*). CD163+ density had no influence on survival. Low intratumoural ratio of TAM/CD8+ was linked to a favourable survival (p=0.062; *Figure 7H, Figure 18H, Figure 19H*). For detailed information see *Table 4, Table 5, Table 6*.

In multivariate analysis peritumoural CD8+ infiltration (p=0.012) and intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distances in middle ranged CD8+ density (p=0.050) were significant prognostic factors.



Figure 7. Influence of pretherapeutic immunologic parameters on overall survival

A: Intratumoural CD8+ density, HR 0.63 (95% CI 0.36–1.13). B: Peritumoural CD8+ density, HR 2.29 (1.16–4.52). C: Intratumoural FoxP3+ density, HR 1.06 (0.60–1.88). D: Intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio, HR 1.47 (0.83–2.62). E: Intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distance, HR 0.62 (0.33–1.18). F: Intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distance, lower and upper quintile of underlying CD8+ density excluded (\leq 53.5/mm² and \geq 303/mm²), HR 0.43 (0.19–0.95). G: Intratumoural CD68+ density, HR 0.73 (0.41–1.30). H: Intratumoural (CD68+ plus CD163+)/CD8+ ratio, HR 1.74 (0.97–3.12).

Results of logrank test

Considering survival analysis of different classes of PD-1/PD-L1 expression, as shown in *Figure 8*, it seemed reasonable to set the threshold of positive expression at 1%.



Figure 8. Dependence of overall survival on PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area **A:** Scores of PD-1 expression. **B:** Scores of PD-L1 expression.

Expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 was estimated as the number of positive cells divided by the number of all cells in the area

In tumoural area, negative PD-1 expression was associated with a significant better prognosis (p=0.028), whereas PD-L1 expression had no significant influence on outcome (p=0.212). Taking into account the density of CD8+ TIL, best prognosis was seen in the group with high CD8+ density and negative PD-1 expression, worst prognosis in the group with low CD8+ density and positive PD-1 expression (p=0.007). Similar effects were seen when combining CD8+ density and PD-L1 expression (p=0.028) (*Figure 9, Figure 20, Figure 23*).



Figure 9. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on overall survival

A: PD-1 expression, HR 0.52 (95% CI 0.29–0.93). B: PD-1 expression combined with CD8+ density, LoCD8/PD1+ compared to HiCD8/PD1-: HR 0.25 (0.09–0.69). C: PD-L1 expression, HR 0.69 (95% CI 0.39–1.23). D: PD-L1 expression combined with CD8+ density, LoCD8/PDL1+ compared to HiCD8/PDL1-: HR 0.32 (0.12–0.89). Results of logrank test

HiCD8/LoCD8 high/low CD8+ density (median 124.3/mm²), *PD1-/PD1*+ negative/positive PD-1 expression, *PDL1-/PDL1*+ negative/positive PD-L1 expression (threshold 1%)

In peritumoural area, again negative PD-1 expression was linked to a significant favourable survival (p=0.047), and PD-L1 expression had no distinct influence (p=0.343). Regarding CD8+ density, a negative PD-1 or PD-L1 expression in a low CD8+ density environment was associated with a significant better prognosis than a positive PD-1 or PD-L1 expression in a high CD8+ density environment (p=0.010 and p=0.031, respectively) (*Figure 10, Figure 21, Figure 24*).



Figure 10. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in peritumoural area on overall survival

A: PD-1 expression, HR 0.50 (95% CI 0.25–0.99). **B:** PD-1 expression combined with CD8+ density, HiCD8/PD1+ compared to LoCD8/PD1-: HR 0.29 (0.11–0.74). **C:** PD-L1 expression, HR 0.71 (95% CI 0.34–1.45). **D:** PD-L1 expression combined with CD8+ density, HiCD8/PDL1+ compared to LoCD8/PDL1-: HR 0.33 (0.12–0.90).

Results of logrank test

HiCD8/LoCD8 high/low CD8+ density (median 132.2/mm²), *PD1-/PD1*+ negative/positive PD-1 expression, *PDL1-/PDL1*+ negative/positive PD-L1 expression (threshold 1%)

There was a significant correlation between PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area (r=0.50, p=0.001) and between PD-L1 expression in tumoural and peritumoural area (r=0.37, p=0.008) (*Figure 11*).



Figure 11. Correlation of PD-L1 and PD-1 expression in tumoural and peritumoural area

Grade of correlation is represented by different colours according to the colour bar on the right, grade of significance by the diameter of the circles.

PD-L1 and PD-1 expressions were scored as 0 = <1%, $1 = \ge 1\%$ to <10%, $2 = \ge 10\%$ to <50%, $3 = \ge 50\%$ number of positive cells compared to the number of all cells in the area

Tu tumoural area, *pTu* peritumoural area, *r* Spearman's Rho, *p* p-value Results of Spearman's rank-order correlation

Regarding a combination of positive PD-1 and PD-L1 expression, overall survival was significantly worse than in those groups with any of the parameters being negative (*Figure 12*, *Figure 22*, *Figure 25*). Significance of combined testing was more pronounced than significance of testing each parameter alone. In multivariate analysis adjusted for both parameters, PD-1 expression contributed predominantly to prognosis (p=0.034), whereas the influence of PD-L1 expression was not significant.



Figure 12. Influence of combined PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on overall survival

PD-1 or PD-L1 negative compared to PD-1 and PD-L1 positive: HR 0.44 (0.24–0.81). Results of logrank test, threshold of positive expression $\geq 1\%$

Alteration of immunologic markers

We found no significant correlation between histological grade and pre-RCT TIC density, only intratumoural CD8+ showed a trend to lower density in the G3 group compared to G1&G2 (p=0.086, Student's t-test).

Prior to RCT in peritumoural compartment fewer FoxP3+ and CD163+ cells were present compared to tumoural compartment. Considering post-RCT TIC infiltration, only samples without complete tumour regression and with clearly discriminable compartments were evaluated. Albeit the low sample number is limiting statistical power, FoxP3+ and CD163+ cells were significantly depleted by RCT ($p \le 0.010$) as compared to a slight and insignificant reduction of CD8+ and CD68+ cells (*Figure 13A*). Consequently, FoxP3+/CD8+ and CD163+/CD68+ ratio decreased clearly comparing pre- and post-RCT tumour tissue (*Figure 13B&C*). Median FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distance was lowest in pretherapeutic peritumoural and highest in posttherapeutic peritumoural compartment; the difference between pre- and posttherapeutic distances in tumoural compartment was not significant (*Figure 13D*). Comparing paired samples, results were similar to those of unpaired evaluation (*Figure 13E*- *H*). There was no significant relationship between pretherapeutic intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratios and FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distances (p=0.250, Fisher's exact test).

In tumoural area before RCT, 46% of the samples were PD-1 negative and 43% PD-L1 negative, 36% and 29% had a positive score of $\geq 1\%$ to <10%, 14% and 19% had a score of $\geq 10\%$ to <50%, 4% and 10% had a score of $\geq 50\%$, respectively. The distribution in the pre-RCT peritumoural area was not significantly different from that in the tumoural area. RCT had no significant influence on the expression in both areas, but the percentage of samples with positive PD-1 expression in tumoural and peritumoural area tended to be lower after RCT (p=0.141 and p=0.109, respectively, Fisher's exact test) (*Figure 14*).







CD163+/CD68+ ratio



Figure 13. TIC densities and FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distances

A–D: Independent evaluation of all samples. **E–H:** Dependent evaluation of paired samples. **A&E:** Cell density of TIC in different compartments (Box-Whisker). **B&F:** FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio of cell density (median and 95% CI). The double arrows mark the significant reduction of the supposed immunosuppressive status caused by RCT. **C&G:** CD163+/CD68+ ratio of cell density. **D&H:** FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distances in different compartments. Cell-to-cell distance analysis omitted, if the count or the density of the markers was < 2 or < 2/mm², respectively.

RCT radiochemotherapy, *TIC* tumour infiltrating cells, *CI* confidence interval, *p* two-tailed p-value



Results of Mann-Whitney-U test (A–D) and Wilcoxon test (E–H)

Figure 14. PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural and peritumoural area, pre- and post-RCT

Expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 was estimated as the number of positive cells divided by the number of all cells in the area.

RCT radiochemotherapy, *Tu* tumoural area, *pTu* peritumoural area, *pre* pre-RCT, *post* post-RCT

Results of Chi-squared test, ¹PD-1 group, ²PD-L1 group, ³all groups

Discussion

Trimodality therapy of OAC has been identified as a major advance by recent evidence-based data. To predict a good response following neoadjuvant RCT would be a further step forward, since only patients experiencing a reasonable regression grade of Mandard 1-3 will benefit from this approach (22). To the best of our knowledge no data on predictive immunologic tumour parameters had been identified up to the publication of our results (1). However, a recently published study confirmed substantial parts of our findings (61).

Apart from some clinical parameters, we found significant influence of pretherapeutic immunological biomarkers on TRG and survival. In addition, their prognostic value was enhanced by including parameters of possibly functional activity, such as cell ratios, FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distance, and PD-L1/PD-1 expression.

Thus, our results may also contribute important ideas to the ongoing process of constituting a TNM-I (TNM-Immune) classification using an Immunoscore-based stratification. After all, in Immunoscore regarding CD8+- and CD3+ densities in colorectal cancer, adaptive immune cell infiltration was shown to have a prognostic value superior to the classic tumour invasion criteria, including grade, stage, and metastatic status (28–30).

Influence of pretherapeutic clinical and immunologic parameters on TRG

Among all clinical parameters tested, only lymph node status influenced TRG, cN+ diminished the effect of RCT distinctly. This may be due to the fact that especially poorly immunogenic tumours tend to metastasize early and are known to respond worse to RCT (62, 63). However, current ESMO clinical practice guidelines (15) do not recommend to withhold cN+ patients from neoadjuvant RCT, albeit clear evidence addressing cN status is lacking.

Densities of each evaluated TIC alone had no influence on TRG. In contrast, Noble et al. reported a favourable TRG for higher CD8+ (significant) and FoxP3+ (trend) density in OAC (57). However, patients received chemotherapy alone and minor TRG was defined as Mandard 3-5. Our evaluations instead suggest to consider Mandard 4&5 as minor TRG, in accordance to Thies and Langer (64). Goedgebuure, Harrasser et al. recently compared complete responders (TRG 1) to RCT with non-complete responders (TRG 2–5) and found that complete responders had significantly higher numbers of tumour-infiltrating T-cells (61). We also found higher CD8+ densities in complete responders than in non-complete responders, but the difference was not significant.

In patients with rectal cancer, a high intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio, assuming an immunosuppressive state, was linked to an unfavourable TRG following RCT (65), whereas another study found no association (66). On the contrary, in our cohort a high intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio predicted a significantly favourable TRG. However, as discussed below, FoxP3+ density was lowered to a great extent by RCT, whereas CD8+ density remained nearly constant. Considering a relatively stable balance between immunologic surveillance and tumour escape mechanisms in the pretherapeutic period, it may be hypothesized that a sudden switch to a pronounced pro-inflammatory microenvironment by RCT catapults immunologic surveillance into a superior position (see also *Figure 17*).

In contrast, short intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distances were associated with an unfavourable TRG (trend), though they also should constitute an immunosuppressive status. However, FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distances were not significantly altered by RCT. So, the immunosuppressive status seemed to be preserved and consequently could reduce RCT efficacy.

Accordingly, a high CD163+/CD68+ ratio was associated with worse TRG, too, both for tumoural (strong trend) and peritumoural compartment (significant). Goedgebuure, Harrasser et al. recently reported similar findings, low numbers of CD163+ M2 macrophages being associated with a favourable complete response (61). The effect may be due to the outstanding role of M2 macrophages in wound healing (49). As discussed by Schaue et al., tissue damage following RCT causes M2 macrophages to attempt healing at the price of possible tumour immune escape (63).

High infiltration with overall TAM was also linked to worse TRG, supporting data of Sugimura et al. (37), possibly reflecting the tumour-promoting effect of chronic inflammation (67). Dutta et al. pointed out in this context, that high TAM infiltration is associated with a high tumour proliferative index (Ki67) (38).

In OSCC, Fassan et al. found that PD-L1 expression was significantly higher in patients who experienced complete pathological response following nRCT (68). The authors discuss that a strong immune infiltration within the tumour could be counterbalanced by a high expression of PD-L1 at baseline, but the therapeutic effects could unmask the cancer antigens, allowing a strong immune response and a favourable response on therapy. In contrast, Chen et al. described a significant correlation of positive PD-L1 staining with poor treatment response following radiotherapy of OSCC (69). In our cohort, PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumour area had no influence on TRG, only PD-L1 expression in peritumoural area was significantly associated

with a significant better response on RCT. Interpretation of our results remains difficult. Regarding that OAC seems to be mostly immune cell excluded (70), the immunological response to tumour spreading may be better characterized in the peritumoural area. The positive correlation of PD-L1 expression in tumoural and peritumoural area found in our cohort may support our assumption, indicating that peritumoural effects may reflect tumoural effects in a more pronounced manner.

Influence of pretherapeutic immunologic parameters on survival

Since surgery had no significant influence on survival in our cohort, we evaluated pretherapeutic parameters including patients with and without surgery:

- CD8+ density

As cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CTL) are able to kill tumour cells, high CD8+ density should predict a favourable survival. But data in OAC are conflicting. In a study with primary resected OAC, high CD8+ cell density in tumoural (but not peritumoural) compartment predicted a better survival (32). Another study, however, could not find any influence of CD8+ density on survival in patients with OAC (36). A recently published review, including 2121 patients with OC, reported high levels of CD8+ TIL being associated with better OS (34).

In our cohort high intratumoural CD8+ density tended to improve survival, but peritumourally it predicted significantly worse survival. Similar contrasting results were found in rectal carcinoma and gastric cancer of the cardia, albeit in various compartments (48, 71). The present results indicate that an inflammatory status in the peritumoural area of OAC may promote tumour spreading. For a more subtle analysis it would be of interest to investigate the milieu at the border between tumoural and peritumoural compartments. From the tumour "excluded" CTL may possibly constitute an overshooting pro-inflammatory status and cause tumour cells to down-sensitize anticancer immunity, e.g. by inhibitory factors downregulating MHC class I molecule expression (43), see *Figure 15*.



Figure 15. Influence of peritumoural CD8+ density on anticancer-immunity

A: A low number of peritumoural CD8+ cells does not influence substantially the intratumoural microenvironment. Tumour cells keep being vulnerable to attacks of intratumoural CD8+ cells.

B: A high number of peritumoural CD8+ cells causes an overshooting proinflammatory environment and down-sensitizes anticancer immunity of tumour cells. Thus, intratumoural CD8+ cells lose effectiveness.

- FoxP3+ and CD8+ interactions

FoxP3+ density had no influence on survival. This is in line with a review of Zheng et al. (34), but it is in contrast with findings in other tumour entities. For example, in gastric cancer of the cardia Haas et al. found a favourable outcome for patients with a high FoxP3+ cell density in tumour stroma (71), whereas in gastric cancer Wang et al. described that a high FoxP3+ cell density was associated with a reduced survival (72), and similar results were seen in ovarian carcinoma (73). Obviously, the role of FoxP3+ Treg seems to vary in a large extent, and therefore it might be crucial to consider functional interactions between FoxP3+ and CD8+ cells.

Indeed, evaluating FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distances in tumoural compartment a short distance was associated with worse survival in our cohort. The difference was clearly pronounced when patients who died postoperatively were excluded, as they do not contribute to studying immunological effects. A similar shift to a more distinct effect was seen excluding cases within lower and upper quintile of CD8+ density. This approach may be justified as an influence of FoxP3+ cells in a very low CD8+ density should be negligible, whereas a high

underlying CD8+ density may cause tumour cells to down-sensitize anticancer immunity (43, 74), see *Figure 16*.



Figure 16. Effects of FoxP3+ to CD8+ distance in different microenvironments according to intratumoural CD8+ density

A: If very few CD8+ cells are present, anticancer surveillance keeps low, nearly independent of any FoxP3+ to CD8+ distance.

B: CD8+ density in a middle range only can attack tumour cells successfully if they are not hampered by the influence of FoxP3+ cells in narrow proximity. In this case, a small part of tumour cells may down-sensitize anticancer immunity, driven by a proinflammatory microenvironment.

C: A very high number of CD8+ cells may lead to an effective tumour control, but due to an overshooting proinflammatory microenvironment, many tumour cells may down-sensitize anticancer immunity. As a consequence, FoxP3+ to CD8+ distance will lose its impact.

These findings support our hypothesis that a short FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distance reflects immunologic activity (46–48), though they should be evaluated, for example, by proximity ligation assays (75). Moreover, it seems difficult to apply this approach for diagnostic purpose.

In most studies, a higher FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio has been related to unfavourable prognosis in different types of cancer, including breast, ovarian, oesophageal squamous cell, tonsillar, gastric and colorectal cancer (except (76)), and osteosarcoma (77–81, 35, 82, 83, 65, 84, 85). In our OAC cohort, a high pre-RCT intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio also tended to predict worse survival. At least, high amounts of FoxP3+ Treg seemed to annihilate the positive effects of CD8+ CTL. We do not think that this observation is contradictory to the favourable effects of high FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio on TRG. The latter may describe short-run effects of RCT, whereas influence on survival should be due to a reorganized balance of immunosurveillance and immune escape mechanisms in the long lasting posttherapeutic period (*Figure 17*).



Figure 17. Effects of a high FoxP3/CD8+ ratio on TRG and prognosis.

A: In the pretherapeutic state, a high FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio leads to a low tumour control **B**: During radiochemotherapy, CD8+ cells keep constant whereas FoxP3+ cells are reduced in a great extent. No more hampered by FoxP3+ cells, CD8+ cells may increase cancer surveillance, promoting a favourable TRG.

C: In the period after RCT, FoxP3+ cells will recover by the time and interfere with the activity of CD8+ cells, predicting an unfavourable prognosis.

- Macrophages parameters

CD163+ density had no significant influence on survival, high intratumoural CD68+ density was associated with a weak trend for better survival. In contrast, Sugimura et al. found high infiltration of CD68+ and CD163+ macrophages in OC being significantly associated with a poor prognosis in patients undergoing neoadjuvant chemotherapy (37). Searching for an explanation for these contrarious results, we explored the ratio of all intratumoural TAM to CD8+ cells. Here, a high ratio was associated with a worse outcome, being more predictive than all parameters alone. In summary, our findings support the hypothesis of Dutta et al., that high macrophage infiltration may promote and high lymphocytic infiltration may prevent tumour progression (38).

PD-L1 and PD-1 expression

Most recently published treatment studies investigating the effect of checkpoint inhibitors in gastric cancer and OAC used the CPS to determine PD-L1 expression (CPS =combined positive score = number of PD-L1 positive tumour cells, lymphocytes, and macrophages divided by the total number of viable tumour cells and multiplied by 100) (53, 86, 55). In our study we evaluated PD-L1 and PD-1 expression simultaneously not only in the tumoural but also in the peritumoural compartment, where tumour cells are absent. For a better comparison of both parameters in both areas we adapted and simplified the CPS and divided the number of cells with positive expression by the total number of all cells. Survival analysis of our cohort revealed that a score of \geq 1% was best appropriate to be classified as positive. This threshold may be a bit lower than the CPS of 5 and 10 which was postulated for the recent approval of nivolimumab and pembrolizumab for treatment of gastric cancer and OAC, respectively.

In our cohort, a positive PD-1 expression both in tumoural and in peritumoural area was associated with a significantly worse outcome. In contrast, we could not demonstrate a significant influence of PD-L1 expression on survival, neither in tumoural nor in peritumoural area. PD-1 and PD-L1 expressions were highly correlated in tumoural compartment, and a combined evaluation of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in this area seemed to increase the grade of influence on prognosis. However, multivariate analysis provided that mainly PD-1 expression was responsible for this effect. Our findings may be somewhat surprising, as in gastric cancer, for example, Gao et al. found a significant unfavourable effect of both PD-1 and PD-L1 expression on prognosis (87), and Chang et al. of PD-L1 expression (88). On the other hand, Wang et al. reported an improved survival of patients with positive tumour PD-L1 expression in gastric cancer (72). There seems to be some evidence of meta-analysis that in patients with digestive system cancer, PD-L1 expression is only a prognostic marker in Asian ethnicity, but not in Non-Asian (89). The same meta-analysis pointed out that the prognostic value in oesophageal cancer may be uncertain. A Swedish study found a prolonged survival for high PD-L1 or PD-1 expression in patients with OAC or gastric cancer; but patients in this study had no neoadjuvant and only 7.5% had adjuvant therapy (90). Results of a Swiss study at least support our findings that high PD-1 expression predicts an unfavourable outcome in OAC (91). As shown for OSCC by Jiang et al., moreover, prediction of PD-L1 expression on survival seems to depend on the tumour stage and lymph node status. In this study, positive tumoural PD-L1 expression was a favourable predictor in UICC stage I-II, but not in III-IV (92).

Däster et al. combined CD8+ and PD-L1/PD-1 evaluation and found that high/high infiltration/expression was associated with significant better survival than low/low infiltration/expression (93). In our cohort we could confirm the impact of CD8+ infiltration on survival, but our results of the combined evaluation of CD8+ infiltration and PD-L1 or PD-1 expression showed that PD-L1 or PD-1 expression was an inversed amplifier of the effect of CD8+ infiltration. That means, that in our cohort a high CD8+ infiltration combined with a low PD-L1 or PD-1 expression predicted a favourable prognosis and vice versa. We think that our results seem to be well plausible in tumoural compartment, as a high immunologic activation should not be hampered by any inhibitory mechanisms, and especially as PD-1 expression is considered to be a sign of T-cell exhaustion or even hyperexhaustion (43). In peritumoural area, we found a similar signature as Däster in tumoural area, but the effect was the opposite: Low/low infiltration/expression was associated with a significant better outcome than high/high infiltration/expression. As previously mentioned, we think that a high expression of PD-L1 and PD-1 is mainly induced by a high immunologic activation of CD8+, and that a high peritumoural immunologic activation may support escape mechanisms of tumour cells.

In our opinion, our results indicate that at least for Non-Asian ethnicities, PD-1 expression could be more meaningful for the prediction of prognosis than PD-L1 expression, and that the expression of PD-L1/PD-1 has to be placed in the context with CD8+ infiltration.

Influence of RCT on TIC density and ratio

As we excluded patients with complete regression from posttherapeutic evaluation and included only samples with clear discrimination of tumoural and peritumoural area, only few post-RCT samples could be evaluated and results have to be interpreted cautiously.

FoxP3+ density in the tumoural compartment was reduced distinctly by RCT, whereas a slight reduction of CD8+ density was not significant. These results are congruent with data of Zingg et al. in OAC (36) and of Mirjolet et al. in rectal cancer (94). Yoneda et al. even found an increase in CD8+-density after RCT in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (95). In the study of Mirjolet patients with a significant increase of the FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio were more likely to live longer, as patients did in the study of Yoneda with an increase of CD8+ TILs.

Considering TAM, to our knowledge no data are published for OAC. In our cohort CD68+ and CD163+ densities were both reduced by RCT with stronger effects on CD163+. Consequently, FoxP3+/CD8+ and CD163+/CD68+ ratios were significantly reduced by RCT, indicating that

RCT efficacy may partially be mediated by constituting a pronounced pro-inflammatory microenvironment (62, 63).

In our cohort, around half of pre-RCT samples was classified as PD-L1 or PD-1 positive both in tumoural and in peritumoural area. Taking into account different scoring systems, this is approximately in line with published results of OAC and gastric cancer (90, 96, 97). The high proportion of PD-L1 and PD-1 positive samples of peritumoural area in our cohort may reflect the deep involvement of this outside compartment in cancer-related immunologic reactions, and may justify increased interest in further investigation of the peritumoural compartment.

We did not find any significant influence of RCT on PD-L1 or PD-1 expression, at best a weak trend to a reduced PD-1 expression following RCT. In OAC and gastric cancer, Svensson et al. reported no effect of chemotherapy on PD-L1 (98), whereas Yu et al. found increasing PD-L1 and PD-1 expression after chemotherapy of gastric cancer (99). In other tumour entities, an up-regulation of PD-L1 expression was reported after RCT of rectal cancer (100), and following chemotherapy of ovarian cancer (101) and of head-neck cancer (102). It is discussed, that activation of CD8+ CTL, for example by chemotherapy, is accompanied by a shift to a pronounced expression of PD-L1 and PD-1 induced by interferon (IFN)- γ , which is produced by activated CTL themselves, consequently restoring a relatively balanced environment (99, 72). In our cohort, CD8+ infiltration was not altered significantly by RCT, and thus, also the PD-L1 and PD-1 expression could be expected to be unchanged.

Postoperative mortality and impact of surgery on survival

We observed a significant difference in postoperative mortality depending on age. These data may reflect "real world" conditions among rather unselected patients. Therefore, question arises whether especially elderly patients should be treated by RCT alone, mainly after major response to RCT. In a systematic review of Best et al. RCT in OC appeared to be at least equivalent to surgery in people responsive to RCT (23). Similar results were reported in a meta-analysis by Wang et al. (24). Though not stratified for clinical response, in our cohort survival was not significantly different in patients with vs. without surgery in multivariate analysis.

Limitations

Despite the prospective approach studying the influence of pre-RCT taken immunologic markers on TRG and survival, the evaluation of the parameters was made retrospectively, and as the number of patients was relatively small, the analysis of subgroups had reduced statistical

power. Furthermore, the use of tissue microarrays for histological examination may not take into account the heterogeneity of the immune landscape, as described in gastric cancer (103).

Conclusion

We demonstrated substantial influence of various clinical and pretherapeutic immunological parameters on TRG and survival of patients with OAC under "real world" conditions. Our results emphasize the outstanding role of immunologic balance maintained by a complex costimulatory and co-inhibitory immunologic network. At a first glance antithetic results may be resolved, if the contributions of the most important players to a certain microenvironment are taken into account. Thus, in the present study simultaneous investigation of CD8+ and FoxP3+ TILs, CD68+ and CD163+ TAMs, and PD-L1 and PD-1 expression could deepen the understanding of immunologic mechanisms responsible for cancer surveillance. Besides forming ratios of corresponding immunologic markers, we verified that evaluating cell-to-cell distance of counteracting FoxP3+ and CD8+ cells was a valuable instrument to investigate functional immunologic interactions, and that the inclusion of peritumoural compartment may enlighten predictive and prognostic mechanisms. Also, PD-L1 and PD-1 expression should preferentially be evaluated in the context of underlying immunological environment, mainly of the CD8+ infiltration grade.

In particular, patients with pretherapeutic cN+, low intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio, high peritumoural CD163+/CD68+ ratio, high intratumoural TAM density, and negative peritumoural PD-L1 expression may not expect a reasonable tumour regression following RCT. Regarding prognosis, patients with pretherapeutic high peritumoural CD8+ density, short intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distance, and positive intratumoural PD-1 expression seem to be at high risk for disease progression in multivariate analysis. An unfavourable outcome was also seen in a subgroup of patients with low intratumoural CD8+ density combined with positive PD-L1 expression.

We think that our results could help to apply different treatment strategies to patients with OAC in a more targeted manner. But, of course, to validate these results further investigation with larger size datasets is required.

Abstract in Croatian Language

SAŽETAK

Pozadina i svrha: Tumor infiltrišući limfociti (TIL), tumor asocirani makrofagi (TAM) i PD-L1/PD-1 ekspresija igra ključnu ulogu u antikancerskom imunološkom nadzoru. Mi smo proučavali njihov uticaj na odgovor na neoadjuvantnu radiohemoterapiju (RCT) i prognozu kod pacijenata sa adenokarcinomima ezofagusa (OAC).

Materijali i metode: Između 10/2004 i 06/2018, uradjena je pre-RCT biopsija-uzoraka od ukupno 76 pacijenata sa lokalno uznapredovalim, ne metastatskim OAC pripremanih za trimodalnu terapiju. Procenjivali smo intra- i peritumoralnu ekspresiju FoxP3+, CD8+, CD68+, CD163+ i PD-L1/PD-1 da bi utvrdili njihov uticaj na stepen tumorske regresije (TRG) i preživljavanje.

Rezultati: Slaba tumorska regresija je uočena kod cN+ (RR 0.77 [95% CI 0.66-0.90], p=0.001), nizak intratumorski FoxP3+/CD8+ racio (RR 0.75 [0.60-0.96], p=0.020), visok peritumorski CD163+/CD68+ racio (RR 0.77 [0.60-0.99], p=0.045), visoka intratumorska gustina TAM (RD -0.44 [-0.82 to -0.06], p=0.023), i negativna peritumorska PD-L1 ekspresija (RR 0.75 [0.57-0.98], p=0.036).

Nezavisno od slabog resekcionog kvaliteta i TRG, preterapijska visoka peritumoralna CD8+ infiltracija (HR 2.36 [1.21-4.61], p=0.012), kratke intratumorske FoxP3+ do CD8+ udaljenosti ćelije od ćelije kod srednje CD8+ intratumorske gustine (HR 2.55 [1.00-6.52], p=0.050), pozitivna intratumorska PD-1 ekspresija (HR 1.92 [1.08-3.45], p=0.038), i niska intratumorska CD8+ gustina u kombinacija sa pozitivnom PD-L1 ekspresijom (HR 3.13 [1.12-8.33], p=0.042) bili su značajno nepovoljni prognostički faktori u multivarijantnoj analizi.

Zaključci: Procenjivani imunološki parametri pokazali su nezavisnu prediktivnu i prognostičku vrednost kod pacijenata sa adenokarcinomima ezofagusa.

Abstract in English Language

Background and purpose: Tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL), tumour associated macrophages (TAM) and PD-L1/PD-1 expression play a key role in anticancer immunosurveillance. We studied their influence on response to neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy (RCT) and prognosis in patients with oesophageal adenocarcinoma (OAC). *Materials and methods:* Between 10/2004 and 06/2018, pre-RCT biopsy-specimens were available from 76 patients with locally advanced, non-metastatic OAC scheduled for trimodality therapy. We evaluated intra- and peritumoural expression of FoxP3+, CD8+, CD68+, CD163+, and PD-L1/PD-1 to determine their influence on tumour regression grade (TRG) and survival.

Results: Poor tumour regression was detected for cN+ (RR 0.77 [95% CI 0.66-0.90], p=0.001), low intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio (RR 0.75 [0.60-0.96], p=0.020), high peritumoural CD163+/CD68+ ratio (RR 0.77 [0.60-0.99], p=0.045), high intratumoural TAM density (RD - 0.44 [-0.82 to -0.06], p=0.023), and negative peritumoural PD-L1 expression (RR 0.75 [0.57-0.98], p=0.036).

Apart from poor resection quality and TRG, pretherapeutic high peritumoural CD8+ infiltration (HR 2.36 [1.21-4.61], p=0.012), short intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell-to-cell distances in middle ranged CD8+ density (HR 2.55 [1.00-6.52], p=0.050), positive intratumoural PD-1 expression (HR 1.92 [1.08-3.45], p=0.038), and low intratumoural CD8+ density combined with positive PD-L1 expression (HR 3.13 [1.12-8.33], p=0.042) were significant unfavourable prognostic factors in multivariate analysis.

Conclusions: The evaluated immunologic parameters showed independent predictive and prognostic value in patients with OAC.

Additional Tables and Figures

Table 3. Pretherapeutic variables with possible impact on favourable tumour regression after RCT (risk analysis of prognostic factors)

Parameters (n cases evaluated)	Threshold	RR (95 % CI)	p-value	RD (95 % CI)	p-value
All patients $(n=58)$					
Clinical data					
Age ≥ median (n=58) cT3&4 (n=58) cN+ (n=58) pG3 in pre-RCT biopsies (n=58)	≥63.80 (yr) T3&4 vs. T1&2 N+ vs. N0 G3 vs. G1&2	0.96 (0.75-1.23) 1.02 (0.00-1.43) 0.77 (0.66-0.90) 0.90 (0.71-1.15)	p=0.738 p=0.907 p=0.001 p=0.412	-0.03 (-0.24 to 0.17) 0.02 (0.00 to 0.29) -0.23 (-0.35 to -0.11) -0.08 (-0.28 to 0.11)	p=0.737 p=0.906 p<0.001 p=0.407
CD8+ and FoxP3+					
High FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio Tu (n=53) High FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio pTu (n=46)	≥1.00 ≥0.07	1.33 (1.05-1.68) 1.38 (0.88-2.17)	p=0.020 p=0.165	0.23 (0.05 to 0.41) 0.23 (-0.06 to 0.52)	p=0.011 p=0.117
Short FoxP3+ to CD8+ dist Tu (n=51) Short FoxP3+ to CD8+ dist pTu (n=43)	<0.9*SRD (µm) <0.9*SRD (µm)	0.83 (0.67-1.04) 1.08 (0.74-1.56)	p=0.106 p=0.700	-0.16 (-0.34 to 0.03) 0.06 (-0.23 to 0.34)	p=0.100 p=0.695
<i>CD</i> 68+ and <i>CD</i> 163+					
High CD163+/CD68+ ratio Tu (n=53) High CD163+/CD68+ ratio pTu (n=47) High TAM density Tu (n=53)	≥2.23 ≥2.01 ≥401.5 (mm ⁻²)	0.79 (0.61-1.02) 0.77 (0.60-0.99) 0.49 (0.21-1.17)	p=0.070 p=0.045 p=0.108	-0.19 (-0.39 to 0.00) -0.21 (-0.42 to -0.01) -0.44 (-0.82 to -0.06)	p=0.055 p=0.036 p=0.023
PD-L1+ and PD-1+					
Positive PD-L1 expression Tu (n=52) Positive PD-L1 expression pTu (n=44)	≥1% ≥1%	0.91 (0.70-1.19) 1.34 (1.02-1.76)	p=0.484 p=0.036	-0.08 (-0.29 to 0.14) 0.24 (0.03 to 0.44)	p=0.480 p=0.023
Positive PD-1 expression Tu (n=52) Positive PD-1 expression pTu (n=44)	$ \ge 1\% \\ \ge 1\% $	0.88 (0.66-1.15) 0.97 (0.72-1.30)	p=0.343 p=0.825	-0.11 (-0.32 to 0.11) -0.03 (-0.26 to 0.21)	p=0.332 p=0.825

TRG tumour regression grade, *RCT* radiochemotherapy, *RR* risk ratio, *CI* confidence interval, RD risk difference, *yr* years, *Tu* in tumoural area, *pTu* in peritumoural area, *dist* cell-to-cell distance, *TAM* tumour associated macrophages (CD68+ plus CD163+)

Favourable TRG: Mandard 1-3 vs. Mandard 4-5

cN+: clinically positive lymph nodes pre-RCT

High ratio (density): The ratio of the cell densities (the density, respectively) in this case is equal to or higher than the threshold obtained by ROC-analysis of all cases.

Short cell to cell distance, SRD: The median cell distance is more than 10 % shorter than the simulated random distance (SRD) in this case.

Cell-to-cell distance analysis was omitted, if the count or the density of the markers was less than 2 or less than 2/mm², respectively.

Results of risk analysis, Pearson's chi-squared test and two tailed z-test. Bold marking for p<0.05

Patient variables	OS					
			Univariate analysis Multivariate and			nalysis
	Md (mo)	5 yr (%)	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value
All patients $(n=76)$	21	30				
Gender						
Female (n=16)	19	24				
Male (n=60)	21	31	0.96 (0.49-1.86)	n.s.		
Age (median 65.35 yr)						
44.3 - <65.35 y (n=38)	26	39				
≥66.35 - 86.5 y (n=38)	21	17	1.44 (0.82-2.52)	p=0.209	1.28 (0.71-2.29)	p=0.4091
Clinical staging (UICC)						
Cunical slaging (DICC)						
II (n=4)	26	38	1	n.s.¬p=0.207		
III (n=70)	21	30		p=0.076		
IV (n=2)	7	0				
(CI)	26	40				
$c_{11} \approx c_{12} (n=13)$	20	42	1 11 (0 51 2 44)			
c15 & c14 (II-05)	21	20	1.11 (0.31-2.44)	11.8.		
(cN)						
cN0 (n=12)	40	44				
cN+ (n=64)	17	27	1.91 (0.95-3.87)	p=0.071	2.17 (0.86-5.47)	p=0.1011
Grading (biopsy)						
pG1 (n=3)	57	33				
pG2 (n=32)	21	39				
pG3 (n=41)	21	24		n.s.		
Localization				comp to AEC III		
ΔAC without AEC $(n-7)$	40	0		n=0.012		n a 4
ΔEC Signart L ($n=40$)	40	20		p=0.012		n.s.
AEC Siewert II (n=40)	10	32		p=0.011		n.s 4
AEG Slewert II ($n=20$)	26	33		p=0.005		n.s.*
AEG Slewert III $(h=3)^n$	1	0		all other n.s.		
Surgery						
With surgery $(n-58)$	26	36				
Without surgery $(n=30)$	10	0	1 81 (0 87-3 76)	n-0.111	1 41 (0 72-2 76)	$n = 0.314^2$
without surgery (ii=18)	1)	0	1.01 (0.07-3.70)	p=0.111	1.41 (0.72-2.70)	p=0.514
Resection quality $(n=58)$						
R0 (n=51)	40	41				
R1 & R2 (n=7)	10	0	7.74 (2.06-29.1)	p=0.003	2.88 (1.19-6.98)	p=0.020 ³
	-	-		r	(
TRG Mandard $(n=58)$						
1 & 2 & 3 (n=47)	40	41				
4 & 5 (n=11)	9	14	3.93 (1.45-10.6)	p=0.006	2.27 (1.06-4.85)	p=0.034 ⁴
1 & 2 (n-42)	40	40				
3 & 4 & 5 (n-16)	12		1 73 (0 80 2 70)	n = 0.146		n s 4
$J \alpha + \alpha J (\Pi - 10)$	1.5	25	1.13 (0.00-3.17)	P-0.140		11.5.

Table 4. Uni- and multivariate analysis of variables with possible impact on OS

Pre-Tx immunologic parameters						
CD8+ low density Tu (n=36)	16	23				
CD8+ high density Tu (n=35)	26	34	0.63 (0.36-1.13)	p=0.125	0.69 (0.39-1.22)	p=0.1965
CD8+ low density pTu (n=28)	50	44				
CD8+ high density pTu (n=29)	16	17	2.29 (1.16-4.52)	p=0.017	2.36 (1.21-4.61)	p=0.012 ⁵
FoxP3+ low density Tu (n=36)	19	30				
FoxP3+ high density Tu (n=35)	21	27	1.06 (0.60-1.88)	p=0.838		n.s. ⁵
FoxP3+/CD8+ low ratio Tu (n=36)	26	34				
FoxP3+/CD8+ high ratio Tu (n=35)	16	22	1.47 (0.83-2.62)	p=0.186	1.36 (0.77-2.41)	p=0.2855
FoxP3+ CD8+ short dist Tu (n=52)	21	22	1.61 (0.85-3.06)		1.59 (0.79-3.21)	
FoxP3+ CD8+ long dist Tu (n=17)	40	41	0.62 (0.33-1.18)	p=0.144	0.63 (0.31-1.27)	p=0.1945
FoxP3+ CD8+ short dist Tu* (n=30)	17	22	2.35 (1.06-5.21)		2.55 (1.00-6.52)	
FoxP3+ CD8+ long dist Tu* (n=12)	80	58	0.43 (0.19-0.95)	p=0.036	0.39 (0.15-1.00)	p=0.0505
CD68+ low density Tu (n=36)	19	18				
CD68+ high density Tu (n=35)	40	39	0.73 (0.41-1.30)	p=0.286	0.68 (0.38-1.21)	p=0.187 ⁵
TAM/CD8+ low ratio Tu (n=35)	43	37				
TAM/CD8+ high ratio Tu (n=35)	16	21	1.74 (0.97-3.12)	p=0.062	1.63 (0.91-2.91)	p=0.0985
PD-L1 neg Tu (n=30)	32	35				
PD-L1 pos Tu (n=39)	21	24	0.69 (0.39-1.23)	p=0.212		n.s. ⁵
PD-L1 neg & CD8+ hi Tu (n=9)	n/a	53				
PD-L1 pos & CD8+ lo Tu (n=13)	11	15	0.32 (0.12-0.89)	p=0.028	0.31 (0.10-0.96)	p=0.042 ⁵
PD-1 neg Tu (n=31)	50	47				
PD-1 pos Tu (n=38)	19	16	0.52 (0.29-0.93)	p=0.028	0.53 (0.29-0.97)	p=0.038 ⁵
PD-1 neg & CD8+ hi Tu (n=11)	n/a	62				
PD-1 pos & CD8+ lo Tu (n=14)	14	13	0.25 (0.09-0.69)	p=0.007	0.25 (0.08-0.76)	p=0.015 ⁵
PD-L1 neg pTu (n=35)	43	41				
PD-L1 pos pTu (n=19)	19	25	0.71 (0.34-1.45)	p=0.343		n.s.
PD-L1 neg & CD8+ lo pTu (n=19)	57	50				
PD-L1 pos & CD8+ hi pTu (n=12)	13	17	0.33 (0.12-0.90)	p=0.031	0.39 (0.16-0.96)	p=0.042 ⁵
PD-1 neg pTu (n=24)	46	50				
PD-1 pos pTu (n=30)	21	22	0.50 (0.25-0.99)	p=0.047	0.50 (0.25-1.01)	p=0.0545
PD-1 neg & CD8+ lo pTu (n=14)	n/a	61				
PD-1 pos & CD8+ hi pTu (n=18)	16	17	0.29 (0.11-0.74)	p=0.010	0.25 (0.09-0.73)	p=0.011 ⁵

OS overall survival, *Md* median, *mo* months, *yr* years, *HR* hazard ratio, *CI* confidence interval, *UICC* International Union against Cancer, *OAC* oesophageal adenocarcinoma, *AEG* adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction, *comp*. compared, *TRG* tumour regression grade, *n.s.* not significant (a p-value less than 0.05 was considered to be significant), *n/a* not achieved, *Tx* therapy, *Tu* tumoural area, *pTu* peritumoural area, *dist* cell-to-cell distance, *TAM* tumour associated macrophages (CD68+ plus CD163+), *neg* negative, *pos* positive, *hi* high density, *lo* low density

[#] 2 of the total number of 3 patients with Siewert III had only R1-resection.

* Lower and upper quintile of underlying CD8+ density were excluded from analysis.

Results of univariate analysis (Kaplan-Meier analysis and logrank [Mantel-Cox] test) and of multivariate analysis (Cox regression)

Cox regression adjusted for: ¹ surgery, ² age and cN, ³ TRG, ⁴ resection quality, ⁵ cN

Patient variables	DFS					
			Univariate analysis Multivariate analy		nalysis	
	Md (mo)	5 yr (%)	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value
All patients $(n=76)$	17	24				
Gender						
Female $(n=16)$	11	18				
Male $(n=60)$	19	27	0 84 (0 42-1 67)	ns		
	17	27	0.01 (0.12 1.07)	11.5.		
Age (median 65.35 yr)						
44.3 - <65.35 y (n=38)	15	34				
≥66.35 - 86.5 y (n=38)	19	11	1.24 (0.71-2.16)	p=0.446	1.14 (0.62-2.03)	p=0.693 ¹
				Ĩ	· · · ·	1
Clinical staging (UICC)						
II (n=4)	19	n/a		n.s.ז p=0.107		
III (n=70)	17	25]		
IV (n=2)	3	0				
(- T)						
(CI)	10	24				
$c_{11} \approx c_{12} (n=13)$	19	54 22	1 14 (0 55 2 27)			
c13 & c14 (li=03)	17	25	1.14 (0.33-2.37)	11.8.		
(cN)						
cN0 (n=12)	n/a	51				
cN+(n=64)	13	20	2.01 (1.02-3.98)	p=0.045	2.38 (0.95-6.02)	p=0.0651
Crading (history)						
Grading (biopsy)	57	22				
pO1 (n=3)	20	24				
$pG_2(n=32)$	15	10		ns		
p05 (n=41)	15	17		11.5.		
Localization				comp. to AEG III		
OAC without AEG (n=7)	15	21		p=0.008		n.s. ⁴
AEG Siewert I (n=40)	16	26		p=0.001		n.s. ⁴
AEG Siewert II $(n=26)$	21	27		p<0.001		n.s. ⁴
AEG Siewert III $(n=3)^{\#}$	5	0		all other n.s.		
Surgery						
With surgery (n=58)	17	29				
Without surgery (n=18)	16	n/a	1.49 (0.75-2.99)	p=0.256	1.26 (0.64-2.46)	p=0.505 ²
Resection quality $(n-58)$						
R0 $(n=51)$	22	33				
R1 & R2 (n=7)	6	0	14 3 (3 37-60 5)	P<0.001	3 28 (1 29-8 31)	n=0.012 ³
(m-r)	0	0	110 (0.07-00.0)	- \0,001	5.20 (1.29 (0.51)	F_0.017
TRG Mandard $(n=58)$						
1 & 2 & 3 (n=47)	21	35				
4 & 5 (n=11)	10	0	4.40 (1.59-12.2)	p=0.004	2.17 (0.98-4.83)	p=0.0564
1 & 2 (n-42)	21	32		-		-
3 & 4 & 5 (n-16)	21 10	55 01	1 00 (0 86 4 20)	n = 0.114		ns ⁴
$J \alpha + \alpha J (II-10)$	10	<i>∠</i> 1	1.90 (0.00-4.20)	p=0.114		11.5.

Table 5. Uni- and multivariate analysis of variables with possible impact on DFS

Pre-Tx immunologic parameters						
CD8+ low density Tu (n=36)	15	15				
CD8+ high density Tu (n=35)	20	30	0.68 (0.39-1.21)	p=0.189	0.74 (0.42-1.30)	p=0.2965
CD8+ low density pTu (n=28)	38	33				
CD8+ high density pTu (n=29)	13	22	2.01 (1.05-3.87)	p=0.036	2.09 (1.11-3.94)	p=0.023 ⁵
FoxP3+ low density Tu (n=36)	17	27				
FoxP3+ high density Tu (n=35)	20	18	1.11 (0.63-1.95)	p=0.723		n.s. ⁵
FoxP3+/CD8+ low ratio Tu (n=36)	21	33				
FoxP3+/CD8+ high ratio Tu (n=35)	16	13	1.47 (0.83-2.59)	p=0.185	1.34 (0.76-2.37)	p=0.3045
FoxP3+ CD8+ short dist Tu (n=52)	16	16	1.49 (0.79-2.80)		1.47 (0.74-2.92)	
FoxP3+ CD8+ long dist Tu (n=17)	22	35	0.67 (0.36-1.27)	p=0.219	0.68 (0.34-1.35)	p=0.2705
FoxP3+ CD8+ short dist Tu* (n=30)	15	17	2.08 (0.95-4.55)		2.26 (0.91-5.63)	
FoxP3+ CD8+ long dist Tu* (n=12)	56	50	0.48 (0.22-1.06)	p=0.068	0.44 (0.18-1.10)	p=0.080 ⁵
CD68+ low density Tu (n=36)	16	21				
CD68+ high density Tu (n=35)	21	25	0.75 (0.42-1.32)	p=0.317	0.69 (0.39-1.20)	p=0.1895
TAM/CD8+ low ratio Tu (n=35)	21	33				
TAM/CD8+ high ratio Tu (n=35)	13	14	1.66 (0.93-2.95)	p=0.085	1.53 (0.87-2.71)	p=0.1425
PD-L1 neg Tu (n=30)	22	32				
PD-L1 pos Tu (n=39)	15	23	0.68 (0.38-1.20)	p=0.180		n.s. ⁵
PD-L1 neg & CD8+ hi Tu (n=9)	n/a	25				
PD-L1 pos & CD8+ lo Tu (n=13)	12	8	0.34 (0.12-0.92)	p=0.034	0.51 (0.14-1.82)	p=0.2985
PD-1 neg Tu (n=31)	38	34				
PD-1 pos Tu (n=38)	13	23	0.58 (0.33-1.04)	p=0.066	0.60 (0.33-1.07)	p=0.0835
PD-1 neg & CD8+ hi Tu (n=11)	n/a	55				
PD-1 pos & CD8+ lo Tu (n=14)	9	7	0.31 (0.12-0.81)	p=0.016	0.26 (0.11-0.87)	p=0.026 ⁵
PD-L1 neg pTu (n=35)	38	34				
PD-L1 pos pTu (n=19)	15	21	0.57 (0.28-1.18)	p=0.130		n.s.
PD-L1 neg & CD8+ lo pTu (n=19)	49	37				
PD-L1 pos & CD8+ hi pTu (n=12)	12	17	0.34 (0.13-0.91)	p=0.032	0.40 (0.17-0.95)	p=0.039 ⁵
PD-1 neg pTu (n=24)	49	46				
PD-1 pos pTu (n=30)	30	16	0.50 (0.26-0.97)	p=0.042	0.50 (0.25-0.99)	p=0.048 ⁵
PD-1 neg & CD8+ lo pTu (n=14)	n/a	53				
PD-1 pos & CD8+ hi pTu (n=18)	13	19	0.31 (0.12-0.77)	p=0.012	0.31 (0.11-0.81)	p=0.018 ⁵

DFS disease free survival, *Md* median, *mo* months, *yr* years, *HR* hazard ratio, *CI* confidence interval, *UICC* International Union against Cancer, *OAC* oesophageal adenocarcinoma, *AEG* adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction, *comp.* compared, *TRG* tumour regression grade, *n.s.* not significant (a p-value less than 0.05 was considered to be significant), *n/a* not achieved, *Tx* therapy, *Tu* tumoural area, *pTu* peritumoural area, *dist* cell-to-cell distance, *TAM* tumour associated macrophages (CD68+ plus CD163+), *neg* negative, *pos* positive, *hi* high density, *lo* low density

[#] 2 of the total number of 3 patients with Siewert III had only R1-resection.

* Lower and upper quintile of underlying CD8+ density were excluded from analysis.

Results of univariate analysis (Kaplan-Meier analysis and logrank [Mantel-Cox] test) and of multivariate analysis (Cox regression)

Cox regression adjusted for: $^{\rm 1}$ surgery, $^{\rm 2}$ age and cN, $^{\rm 3}$ TRG, $^{\rm 4}$ resection quality, $^{\rm 5}$ cN

Patient variables		NED				
			Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis	
	Md (mo)	5 yr (%)	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value
	20	10				
All patients (n=76)	38	42				
Gondor						
$F_{\text{emale}}(n-16)$	21	20				
Male (n=60)	56	46	0.63 (0.27-1.50)	ns		
Male (II-00)	50	40	0.05 (0.27-1.50)	11.3.		
Age (median 65.35 vr)						
44.3 - <65.35 y (n=38)	38	45				
>66.35 - 86.5 y (n=38)	31	36	0.98 (0.49-1.96)	p=0.959	0.81 (0.39-1.72)	$p=0.591^{1}$
				F		P
Clinical staging (UICC)						
H ()	10	,		0.105		
II (n=4)	19	n/a	-	p=0.107		
$\lim_{n \to \infty} (n = 70)$	49	44	-	p=0.011		
IV (n=2)	3	0				
(cT)						
cT1 & cT2 (n=13)	n/a	59				
cT3 & cT4 (n=63)	31	39	1.23 (0.50-3.00)	n.s.		
(cN)						
cN0 (n=12)	n/a	57				
cN+(n=64)	31	39	1.69 (0.72-4.00)	p=0.228	1.79 (0.63-5.10)	$p=0.276^{1}$
			· · · · ·	I	· · · · ·	1
Grading (biopsy)						
pG1 (n=3)	n/a	67				
pG2 (n=32)	n/a	51				
pG3 (n=41)	22	33		n.s.		
Localization				comp. to AEG III		
OAC without AEG (n=7)	15	25		p=0.007		n.s. ⁴
AEG Siewert I (n=40)	56	45		p=0.019		n.s. ⁴
AEG Siewert II (n=26)	38	48		p=0.003		n.s. ⁴
AEG Siewert III (n=3)#	7	0		all other n.s.		
Surgery						
With surgery (n=58)	56	45				
Without surgery (n=18)	21	n/a	1.78 (0.76-4.20)	p=0.187	1.70 (0.74-3.89)	p=0.208 ²
Resection quality $(n-58)$						
R0 (n=51)	n/a	52				
R1 & R2 (n=7)	10	0	33 3 (5 05-219)	n<0.001	4 78 (1 50-15 2)	n=0 008 ³
	10	Ū	55.5 (5.05-217)	L		F-01000
TRG Mandard (n=58)						
1 & 2 & 3 (n=47)	22	34				
4 & 5 (n=11)	7	0	4.50 (1.21-16.7)	p=0.003	2.10 (0.75-5.90)	p=0.1584
1 & 2 (n=42)	2.2	32				
3 & 4 & 5 (n=16)	10	21	2,26 (0.82-6.21)	p=0.113		n.s. ⁴
		-	(1		

Table 6. Uni- and multivariate analysis of variables with possible impact on NED

Pre-Tx immunologic parameters						
CD8+ low density Tu (n=36)	22	25				
CD8+ high density Tu (n=35)	n/a	51	0.68 (0.34-1.36)	p=0.276	0.72 (0.36-1.44)	p=0.3515
CD8+ low density pTu (n=28)	n/a	53				
CD8+ high density pTu (n=29)	20	32	2.33 (1.03-5.24)	p=0.041	2.39 (1.08-5.28)	p=0.032 ⁵
FoxP3+ low density Tu (n=36)	56	44				
FoxP3+ high density Tu (n=35)	22	35	1.08 (0.54-2.15)	p=0.835		n.s. ⁵
FoxP3+/CD8+ low ratio Tu (n=36)	38	47				
FoxP3+/CD8+ high ratio Tu (n=35)	22	31	1.18 (0.59-2.36)	p=0.642		n.s. ⁵
FoxP3+ CD8+ short dist Tu (n=52)	22	35	1.46 (0.66-3.20)		1.46 (0.62-3.42)	
FoxP3+ CD8+ long dist Tu (n=17)	56	50	0.69 (0.31-1.51)	p=0.347	0.69 (0.29-1.61)	p=0.3885
FoxP3+ CD8+ short dist Tu* (n=30)	38	37	1.63 (0.63-4.21)		1.67 (0.59-4.70)	
FoxP3+ CD8+ long dist Tu* (n=12)	n/a	55	0.61 (0.24-1.58)	p=0.309	0.60 (0.21-1.67)	p=0.3265
CD68+ low density Tu (n=36)	21	35				
CD68+ high density Tu (n=35)	56	45	0.67 (0.33-1.35)	p=0.260	0.63 (0.31-1.26)	p=0.1905
TAM/CD8+ low ratio Tu (n=35)	n/a	57				
TAM/CD8+ high ratio Tu (n=35)	22	22	1.88 (0.93-3.77)	p=0.077	2.77 (0.88-3.60)	p=0.112 ⁵
PD-L1 neg Tu (n=30)	38	39				
PD-L1 pos Tu (n=39)	39	21	0.86 (0.43-1.73)	p=0.680		n.s. ⁵
PD-L1 neg & CD8+ hi Tu (n=9)	n/a	56				
PD-L1 pos & CD8+ lo Tu (n=13)	12	19	0.48 (0.15-1.56)	p=0.224		n.s. ⁵
PD-1 neg Tu (n=31)	56	46				
PD-1 pos Tu (n=38)	20	34	0.57 (0.28-1.14)	p=0.110	0.57 (0.28-1.16)	p=0.1205
PD-1 neg & CD8+ hi Tu (n=11)	n/a	71				
PD-1 pos & CD8+ lo Tu (n=14)	13	22	0.28 (0.09-0.92)	p=0.035	0.27 (0.07-1.02)	p=0.0535
PD-L1 neg pTu (n=35)	49	44				
PD-L1 pos pTu (n=19)	22	46	0.77 (0.33-1.83)	p=0.560		n.s.
PD-L1 neg & CD8+ lo pTu (n=19)	56	50				
PD-L1 pos & CD8+ hi pTu (n=12)	15	28	0.35 (0.11-1.11)	p=0.076		n.s.
PD-1 neg pTu (n=24)	n/a	64				
PD-1 pos pTu (n=30)	21	29	0.41 (0.19-0.92)	p=0.030	0.39 (0.16-0.95)	p=0.038 ⁵
PD-1 neg & CD8+ lo pTu (n=14)	n/a	66				
PD-1 pos & CD8+ hi pTu (n=18)	19	21	0.25 (0.09-0.69)	p=0.008	0.23 (0.07-0.74)	p=0.014 ⁵

NED no evidence of disease, *Md* median, *mo* months, *yr* years, *HR* hazard ratio, *CI* confidence interval, *UICC* International Union against Cancer, *OAC* oesophageal adenocarcinoma, *AEG* adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction, *comp*. compared, *TRG* tumour regression grade, *n.s.* not significant (a p-value less than 0.05 was considered to be significant), *n/a* not achieved, *Tx* therapy, *Tu* tumoural area, *pTu* peritumoural area, *dist* cell-to-cell distance, *TAM* tumour associated macrophages (CD68+ plus CD163+), *neg* negative, *pos* positive, *hi* high density, *lo* low density

[#] 2 of the total number of 3 patients with Siewert III had only R1-resection.

* Lower and upper quintile of underlying CD8+ density were excluded from analysis.

Results of univariate analysis (Kaplan-Meier analysis and logrank [Mantel-Cox] test) and of multivariate analysis (Cox regression)

Cox regression adjusted for: ¹ surgery, ² age and cN, ³ TRG, ⁴ resection quality, ⁵ cN



Figure 18. Influence of pretherapeutic immunologic parameters on DFS

A: Intratumoural CD8+ density, HR 0.68 (95% CI 0.39–1.21). B: Peritumoural CD8+ density, HR 2.01 (1.05–3.87). C: Intratumoural FoxP3+ density, HR 1.11 (0.63–1.95). D: Intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio, HR 1.47 (0.83–2.59). E: Intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distance, HR 0.67 (0.36–1.27). F: Intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distance, lower and upper quintile of underlying CD8+ density excluded (\leq 53.5/mm² and \geq 303/mm²), HR 0.48 (0.22–1.06). G: Intratumoural CD68+ density, HR 0.75 (0.42–1.32). H: Intratumoural (CD68+ plus CD163+)/CD8+ ratio, HR 1.66 (0.93–2.95).

Results of logrank test



Figure 19. Influence of pretherapeutic immunologic parameters on NED survival

A: Intratumoural CD8+ density, HR 0.68 (95% CI 0.34–1.36). B: Peritumoural CD8+ density, HR 2.33 (1.03–5.24). C: Intratumoural FoxP3+ density, HR 1.08 (0.54–2.15). D: Intratumoural FoxP3+/CD8+ ratio, HR 1.18 (0.59–2.36). E: Intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distance, HR 0.69 (0.31–1.51). F: Intratumoural FoxP3+ to CD8+ cell distance, lower and upper quintile of underlying CD8+ density excluded (\leq 53.5/mm² and \geq 303/mm²), HR 0.61 (0.24–1.58). G: Intratumoural CD68+ density, HR 0.67 (0.33–1.35). H: Intratumoural (CD68+ plus CD163+)/CD8+ ratio, HR 1.88 (0.93–3.77).

Results of logrank test



Figure 20. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on disease free survival

A: PD-1 expression, HR 0.58 (95% CI 0.33–1.04). **B:** PD-1 expression combined with CD8+ density, LoCD8/PD1+ compared to HiCD8/PD1-: HR 0.31 (0.12–0.81). **C:** PD-L1 expression, HR 0.68 (95% CI 0.38–1.20). **D:** PD-L1 expression combined with CD8+ density, LoCD8/PDL1+ compared to HiCD8/PDL1-: HR 0.34 (0.12–0.92).

Results of logrank test

HiCD8/LoCD8 high/low CD8+ density (median 124.3/mm²), *PD1-/PD1*+ negative/positive PD-1 expression, *PDL1-/PDL1*+ negative/positive PD-L1 expression (threshold 1%)



Figure 21. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in peritumoural area on disease free survival

A: PD-1 expression, HR 0.50 (95% CI 0.26–0.97). **B:** PD-1 expression combined with CD8+ density, HiCD8/PD1+ compared to LoCD8/PD1-: HR 0.31 (0.12–0.77). **C:** PD-L1 expression, HR 0.57 (95% CI 0.28–1.18). **D:** PD-L1 expression combined with CD8+ density, HiCD8/PDL1+ compared to LoCD8/PDL1-: HR 0.34 (0.13–0.91).

Results of logrank test

HiCD8/LoCD8 high/low CD8+ density (median 132.2/mm²), *PD1-/PD1*+ negative/positive PD-1 expression, *PDL1-/PDL1*+ negative/positive PD-L1 expression (threshold 1%)



Figure 22. Influence of combined PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on disease free survival

PD-1 or PD-L1 negative compared to PD-1 and PD-L1 positive: HR 0.48 (0.27–0.88). Results of logrank test, threshold of positive expression $\geq 1\%$



Figure 23. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on NED survival

A: PD-1 expression, HR 0.57 (95% CI 0.28–1.14). **B:** PD-1 expression combined with CD8+ density, LoCD8/PD1+ compared to HiCD8/PD1-: HR 0.28 (0.09–0.92). **C:** PD-L1 expression, HR 0.86 (95% CI 0.43–1.73). **D:** PD-L1 expression combined with CD8+ density, LoCD8/PDL1+ compared to HiCD8/PDL1-: HR 0.48 (0.15–1.56).

Results of logrank test

NED No evidence of disease, *HiCD8/LoCD8* high/low CD8+ density (median 124.3/mm²), *PD1-/PD1*+ negative/positive PD-1 expression, *PDL1-/PDL1*+ negative/positive PD-L1 expression (threshold 1%)



Figure 24. Influence of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in peritumoural area on NED survival

A: PD-1 expression, HR 0.41 (95% CI 0.19–0.92). **B:** PD-1 expression combined with CD8+ density, HiCD8/PD1+ compared to LoCD8/PD1-: HR 0.25 (0.09–0.69). **C:** PD-L1 expression, HR 0.77 (95% CI 0.33–1.83). **D:** PD-L1 expression combined with CD8+ density, HiCD8/PDL1+ compared to LoCD8/PDL1-: HR 0.35 (0.11–1.11).

Results of logrank test

NED No evidence of disease, *HiCD8/LoCD8* high/low CD8+ density (median 132.2/mm²), *PD1-/PD1*+ negative/positive PD-1 expression, *PDL1-/PDL1*+ negative/positive PD-L1 expression (threshold 1%)



Figure 25. Influence of combined PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in tumoural area on NED survival

PD-1 or PD-L1 negative compared to PD-1 and PD-L1 positive: HR 0.52 (0.25-1.06).

Results of logrank test, threshold of positive expression $\geq 1\%$

NED no evidence of disease

References

1. Göbel HH, Büttner-Herold MJ, Fuhrich N, Aigner T, Grabenbauer GG, Distel LV. Cytotoxic and immunosuppressive inflammatory cells predict regression and prognosis following neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Radiotherapy and Oncology 2020; 146:151–60.

2. Göbel HH, Distel LVR, Aigner T, Büttner-Herold MJ, Grabenbauer GG. PD-1 and PD-L1 expression predict regression and prognosis following neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Clinical and Translational Radiation Oncology 2022; 34:90–8.

3. Siewert RJ, Feith M, Werner M, Stein HJ. Adenocarcinoma of the Esophagogastric Junction: Results of Surgical Therapy Based on Anatomical/Topographic Classification in 1,002 Consecutive Patients. Ann Surg 2000; 232(3):353–61.

4. Mandard A-M, Dalibard F, Mandard J-C, Marnay J, Henry-Amar M, Petiot J-F et al. Pathologic assessment of tumor regression after preoperative chemoradiotherapy of esophageal carcinoma. Clinicopathologic correlations. Cancer 1994; 73(11):2680–6.

5. Punt CJA, Buyse M, Köhne C-H, Hohenberger P, Labianca R, Schmoll HJ et al. Endpoints in adjuvant treatment trials: a systematic review of the literature in colon cancer and proposed definitions for future trials. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007; 99(13):998–1003.

6. Fisichella PM, Patti MG, editors. Atlas of Esophageal Surgery. Cham, s.l.: Springer International Publishing; 2015.

7. Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Mathers C, Parkin DM, Piñeros M et al. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. Int J Cancer 2019; 144(8):1941–53.

8. Ferlay J, Shin H-R, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. Int J Cancer 2010; 127(12):2893–917.

9. Pakzad R, Mohammadian-Hafshejani A, Khosravi B, Soltani S, Pakzad I, Mohammadian M et al. The incidence and mortality of esophageal cancer and their relationship to development in Asia. Annals of Translational Medicine 2016; 4(2):29. Available from: URL: https://atm.amegroups.com/article/view/8958/9619.

10. Pennathur A, Gibson MK, Jobe BA, Luketich JD. Oesophageal carcinoma. The Lancet 2013; 381(9864):400–12.

11. Robert Koch-Institut (Hrsg) und die Gesellschaft der epidemiologischen Krebsregister in Deutschland e.V. Krebs in Deutschland für 2015/2016. 12. Ausgabe. Berlin; 2019.

12. Arnold M, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, Forman D. Global incidence of oesophageal cancer by histological subtype in 2012. Gut 2015; 64(3):381–7.

13. Kauppila JH, Mattsson F, Brusselaers N, Lagergren J. Prognosis of oesophageal adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma following surgery and no surgery in a nationwide Swedish cohort study. BMJ OPEN 2018 [cited 2019 Dec 24]; 8(5). Available from: URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1854/LU-8622101.

14. Smyth EC, Lagergren J, Fitzgerald RC, Lordick F, Shah MA, Lagergren P et al. Oesophageal cancer. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2017; 3:17048.

15. Lordick F, Mariette C, Haustermans K, Obermannová R, Arnold D. Oesophageal cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2016; 27(suppl 5):v50-v57.

16. Cunningham D, Allum WH, Stenning SP, Thompson JN, van de Velde CJH, Nicolson M et al. Perioperative chemotherapy versus surgery alone for resectable gastroesophageal cancer. N Engl J Med 2006; 355(1):11–20.

17. Allum WH, Stenning SP, Bancewicz J, Clark PI, Langley RE. Long-term results of a randomized trial of surgery with or without preoperative chemotherapy in esophageal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27(30):5062–7.

18. van Hagen P, Hulshof MCCM, van Lanschot JJB, Steyerberg EW, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Wijnhoven BPL et al. Preoperative chemoradiotherapy for esophageal or junctional cancer. N Engl J Med 2012; 366(22):2074–84.

19. Kumagai K, Rouvelas I, Tsai JA, Mariosa D, Lind PA, Lindblad M et al. Survival benefit and additional value of preoperative chemoradiotherapy in resectable gastric and gastrooesophageal junction cancer: a direct and adjusted indirect comparison meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol 2015; 41(3):282–94.

20. Markar SR, Noordman BJ, Mackenzie H, Findlay JM, Boshier PR, Ni M et al. Multimodality treatment for esophageal adenocarcinoma: multi-center propensity-score matched study. Ann Oncol 2017; 28(3):519–27.

21. Koen Talsma A, Shapiro J, Looman CWN, van Hagen P, Steyerberg EW, van der Gaast A et al. Lymph node retrieval during esophagectomy with and without neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy: prognostic and therapeutic impact on survival. Ann Surg 2014; 260(5):786-92; discussion 792-3.

22. Spoerl S, Novotny A, Al-Batran S-E, Lordick F, Thuss-Patience P, Pauligk C et al. Histopathological regression predicts treatment outcome in locally advanced esophagogastric adenocarcinoma. Eur J Cancer 2018; 90:26–33.

23. Best LMJ, Mughal M, Gurusamy KS. Non-surgical versus surgical treatment for oesophageal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016; 3:CD011498.

24. Wang J, Qin J, Jing S, Liu Q, Cheng Y, Wang Y et al. Clinical complete response after chemoradiotherapy for carcinoma of thoracic esophagus: Is esophagectomy always necessary? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorac Cancer 2018; 9(12):1638–47.

25. Kate FJC ten, van Olphen SH, Bruno MJ, Wijnhoven BPL, van Lanschot JJB, Looijenga LHJ et al. Loss of SRY-box2 (SOX2) expression and its impact on survival of patients with oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Br J Surg 2017; 104(10):1327–37.

26. Bollschweiler E, Hölscher AH, Herbold T, Metzger R, Alakus H, Schmidt H et al. Molecular Markers for the Prediction of Minor Response to Neoadjuvant Chemoradiation in Esophageal Cancer: Results of the Prospective Cologne Esophageal Response Prediction (CERP) Study. Ann Surg 2016; 264(5):839–46.

27. Ebbing EA, van der Zalm AP, Steins A, Creemers A, Hermsen S, Rentenaar R et al. Stromal-derived interleukin 6 drives epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and therapy resistance in esophageal adenocarcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2019; 116(6):2237–42.

28. Galon J, Pagès F, Marincola FM, Angell HK, Thurin M, Lugli A et al. Cancer classification using the Immunoscore: a worldwide task force. J Transl Med 2012; 10:205.

29. Kirilovsky A, Marliot F, El Sissy C, Haicheur N, Galon J, Pagès F. Rational bases for the use of the Immunoscore in routine clinical settings as a prognostic and predictive biomarker in cancer patients. Int Immunol 2016; 28(8):373–82.

30. Angell HK, Bruni D, Barrett JC, Herbst R, Galon J. The Immunoscore: Colon Cancer and Beyond. Clin Cancer Res 2019.

31. Konno-Kumagai T, Fujishima F, Nakamura Y, Nakano T, Nagai T, Kamei T et al. Programmed death-1 ligands and tumor infiltrating T lymphocytes in primary and lymph node metastasis of esophageal cancer patients. Dis Esophagus 2019; 32(3).

32. Stein AV, Dislich B, Blank A, Guldener L, Kröll D, Seiler CA et al. High intratumoural but not peritumoural inflammatory host response is associated with better prognosis in primary resected oesophageal adenocarcinomas. Pathology 2017; 49(1):30–7.

33. Vacchelli E, Semeraro M, Enot DP, Chaba K, Poirier Colame V, Dartigues P et al. Negative prognostic impact of regulatory T cell infiltration in surgically resected esophageal cancer post-radiochemotherapy. Oncotarget 2015; 6(25):20840–50.

34. Zheng X, Song X, Shao Y, Xu B, Hu W, Zhou Q et al. Prognostic Role of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Esophagus Cancer: a Meta-Analysis. Cell Physiol Biochem 2018; 45(2):720–32.

35. Zhu Y, Li M, Mu D, Kong L, Zhang J, Zhao F et al. CD8+/FOXP3+ ratio and PD-L1 expression associated with survival in pT3N0M0 stage esophageal squamous cell cancer. Oncotarget 2016; 7(44):71455–65.

36. Zingg U, Montani M, Frey DM, Dirnhofer S, Esterman AJ, Went P et al. Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes and survival in patients with adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus. Eur J Surg Oncol 2010; 36(7):670–7.

37. Sugimura K, Miyata H, Tanaka K, Takahashi T, Kurokawa Y, Yamasaki M et al. High infiltration of tumor-associated macrophages is associated with a poor response to chemotherapy and poor prognosis of patients undergoing neoadjuvant chemotherapy for esophageal cancer. J Surg Oncol 2015; 111(6):752–9.

38. Dutta S, Going JJ, Crumley ABC, Mohammed Z, Orange C, Edwards J et al. The relationship between tumour necrosis, tumour proliferation, local and systemic inflammation, microvessel density and survival in patients undergoing potentially curative resection of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Br J Cancer 2012; 106(4):702–10.

39. Ahrends T, Borst J. The opposing roles of CD4+ T cells in anti-tumour immunity. Immunology 2018; 154(4):582–92.

40. Devaud C, Darcy PK, Kershaw MH. Foxp3 expression in T regulatory cells and other cell lineages. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2014; 63(9):869–76.

41. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol 2011; 12(6):492–9.

42. Blank CU, Haining WN, Held W, Hogan PG, Kallies A, Lugli E et al. Defining 'T cell exhaustion'. Nat Rev Immunol 2019; 19(11):665–74.

43. Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. Nature 2017; 541(7637):321–30.

44. Tanaka A, Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells in cancer immunotherapy. Cell Res 2017; 27(1):109–18.

45. Kim K-J, Lee KS, Cho HJ, Kim YH, Yang HK, Kim WH et al. Prognostic implications of tumor-infiltrating FoxP3+ regulatory T cells and CD8+ cytotoxic T cells in microsatellite-unstable gastric cancers. Human Pathology 2014; 45(2):285–93.

46. Feichtenbeiner A, Haas M, Büttner M, Grabenbauer GG, Fietkau R, Distel LV. Critical role of spatial interaction between CD8⁺ and Foxp3⁺ cells in human gastric cancer: the distance matters. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2014; 63(2):111–9.

47. Nagl S, Haas M, Lahmer G, Büttner-Herold M, Grabenbauer GG, Fietkau R et al. Cell-tocell distances between tumor-infiltrating inflammatory cells have the potential to distinguish functionally active from suppressed inflammatory cells. Oncoimmunology 2016; 5(5):e1127494.

48. Posselt R, Erlenbach-Wünsch K, Haas M, Jeßberger J, Büttner-Herold M, Haderlein M et al. Spatial distribution of FoxP3+ and CD8+ tumour infiltrating T cells reflects their functional activity. Oncotarget 2016; 7(37):60383–94.

49. Krzyszczyk P, Schloss R, Palmer A, Berthiaume F. The Role of Macrophages in Acute and Chronic Wound Healing and Interventions to Promote Pro-wound Healing Phenotypes. Front Physiol 2018; 9:419.

50. Long KB, Beatty GL. Harnessing the antitumor potential of macrophages for cancer immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology 2013; 2(12):e26860.

51. Boussiotis VA. Molecular and Biochemical Aspects of the PD-1 Checkpoint Pathway. N Engl J Med 2016; 375(18):1767–78.

52. Joshi SS, Maron SB, Catenacci DV. Pembrolizumab for treatment of advanced gastric and gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma. Future Oncol 2018; 14(5):417–30.

53. Kelly RJ, Ajani JA, Kuzdzal J, Zander T, van Cutsem E, Piessen G et al. Adjuvant Nivolumab in Resected Esophageal or Gastroesophageal Junction Cancer. N Engl J Med 2021; 384(13):1191–203.

54. Sun J-M, Shen L, Shah MA, Enzinger P, Adenis A, Doi T et al. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for first-line treatment of advanced oesophageal cancer (KEYNOTE-590): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. The Lancet 2021; 398(10302):759–71.

55. Janjigian YY, Shitara K, Moehler M, Garrido M, Salman P, Shen L et al. First-line nivolumab plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for advanced gastric, gastro-oesophageal junction, and oesophageal adenocarcinoma (CheckMate 649): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. The Lancet 2021; 398(10294):27–40.

56. Thompson ED, Zahurak M, Murphy A, Cornish T, Cuka N, Abdelfatah E et al. Patterns of PD-L1 expression and CD8 T cell infiltration in gastric adenocarcinomas and associated immune stroma. Gut 2017; 66(5):794–801.

57. Noble F, Mellows T, McCormick Matthews LH, Bateman AC, Harris S, Underwood TJ et al. Tumour infiltrating lymphocytes correlate with improved survival in patients with oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2016; 65(6):651–62.

58. Vitz S, Göbel H, Leibl B, Aigner T, Grabenbauer GG. Adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus: neoadjuvant chemoradiation and radical surgery. Strahlenther Onkol 2018; 64(3):381.

59. Barros MHM, Hauck F, Dreyer JH, Kempkes B, Niedobitek G. Macrophage polarisation: an immunohistochemical approach for identifying M1 and M2 macrophages. PLoS ONE 2013; 8(11):e80908.

60. Hammer, Ø., Harper, D.A.T., Ryan, P.D. PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis.; 2001 Palaeontologia Electronica 4(1): 9pp. [cited 2019 Jun 12]. Available from: URL: https://palaeo-electronica.org/2001_1/past/past.pdf.

61. Goedegebuure RSA, Harrasser M, Klerk LK de, van Schooten TS, van Grieken NCT, Eken M et al. Pre-treatment tumor-infiltrating T cells influence response to neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy in esophageal adenocarcinoma. Oncoimmunology 2021; 10(1):1954807.

62. Yoshimoto Y, Kono K, Suzuki Y. ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSES INDUCED BY RADIOTHERAPY: A REVIEW. Fukushima J Med Sci 2015; 61(1):13–22.

63. Schaue D, Micewicz ED, Ratikan JA, Xie MW, Cheng G, McBride WH. Radiation & Inflammation. Semin Radiat Oncol 2015; 25(1):4–10.

64. Thies S, Langer R. Tumor Regression Grading of Gastrointestinal Carcinomas after Neoadjuvant Treatment. Front. Oncol. 2013; 3.

65. Shinto E, Hase K, Hashiguchi Y, Sekizawa A, Ueno H, Shikina A et al. CD8+ and FOXP3+ tumor-infiltrating T cells before and after chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2014; 21 Suppl 3:S414-21.

66. McCoy MJ, Hemmings C, Anyaegbu CC, Austin SJ, Lee-Pullen TF, Miller TJ et al. Tumour-infiltrating regulatory T cell density before neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer does not predict treatment response. Oncotarget 2017; 8(12):19803–13.

67. Coussens LM, Zitvogel L, Palucka AK. Neutralizing tumor-promoting chronic inflammation: a magic bullet? Science 2013; 339(6117):286–91.

68. Fassan M, Cavallin F, Guzzardo V, Kotsafti A, Scarpa M, Cagol M et al. PD-L1 expression, CD8+ and CD4+ lymphocyte rate are predictive of pathological complete response after neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy for squamous cell cancer of the thoracic esophagus. Cancer Med 2019; 8(13):6036–48.

69. Chen M-F, Chen P-T, Chen W-C, Lu M-S, Lin P-Y, Lee KD. The role of PD-L1 in the radiation response and prognosis for esophageal squamous cell carcinoma related to IL-6 and T-cell immunosuppression. Oncotarget 2016; 7(7):7913–24.

70. Derks S, Klerk LK de, Xu X, Fleitas T, Liu KX, Liu Y et al. Characterizing diversity in the tumor-immune microenvironment of distinct subclasses of gastroesophageal adenocarcinomas. Ann Oncol 2020; 31(8):1011–20.

71. Haas M, Dimmler A, Hohenberger W, Grabenbauer GG, Niedobitek G, Distel LV. Stromal regulatory T-cells are associated with a favourable prognosis in gastric cancer of the cardia. BMC Gastroenterol 2009; 9:65.

72. Wang Y, Zhu C, Song W, Li J, Zhao G, Cao H. PD-L1 Expression and CD8+ T Cell Infiltration Predict a Favorable Prognosis in Advanced Gastric Cancer. J Immunol Res 2018; 2018:4180517.

73. Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med 2004; 10(9):942–9.

74. Echarti A, Hecht M, Büttner-Herold M, Haderlein M, Hartmann A, Fietkau R et al. CD8+ and Regulatory T cells Differentiate Tumor Immune Phenotypes and Predict Survival in Locally Advanced Head and Neck Cancer. Cancers (Basel) 2019; 11(9).

75. Fredriksson S, Gullberg M, Jarvius J, Olsson C, Pietras K, Gústafsdóttir SM et al. Protein detection using proximity-dependent DNA ligation assays. Nat Biotechnol 2002; 20(5):473–7.

76. Argon A, Vardar E, Kebat T, Erdinç Ö, Erkan N. The Prognostic Significance of FoxP3+ T Cells and CD8+ T Cells in Colorectal Carcinomas. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 2016; 35(2):121–31.

77. Asano Y, Kashiwagi S, Goto W, Kurata K, Noda S, Takashima T et al. Tumour-infiltrating CD8 to FOXP3 lymphocyte ratio in predicting treatment responses to neoadjuvant chemotherapy of aggressive breast cancer. Br J Surg 2016; 103(7):845–54.

78. Peng G-L, Li L, Guo Y-W, Yu P, Yin X-J, Wang S et al. CD8+ cytotoxic and FoxP3+ regulatory T lymphocytes serve as prognostic factors in breast cancer. Am J Transl Res 2019; 11(8):5039–53.

79. Preston CC, Maurer MJ, Oberg AL, Visscher DW, Kalli KR, Hartmann LC et al. The ratios of CD8+ T cells to CD4+CD25+ FOXP3+ and FOXP3- T cells correlate with poor clinical outcome in human serous ovarian cancer. PLoS ONE 2013; 8(11):e80063.

80. Sato E, Olson SH, Ahn J, Bundy B, Nishikawa H, Qian F et al. Intraepithelial CD8+ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and a high CD8+/regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102(51):18538–43.

81. Hatogai K, Kitano S, Fujii S, Kojima T, Daiko H, Nomura S et al. Comprehensive immunohistochemical analysis of tumor microenvironment immune status in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget 2016; 7(30):47252–64.

82. Näsman A, Romanitan M, Nordfors C, Grün N, Johansson H, Hammarstedt L et al. Tumor infiltrating CD8+ and Foxp3+ lymphocytes correlate to clinical outcome and human papillomavirus (HPV) status in tonsillar cancer. PLoS ONE 2012; 7(6):e38711.

83. Shen Z, Zhou S, Wang Y, Li R, Zhong C, Liang C et al. Higher intratumoral infiltrated Foxp3+ Treg numbers and Foxp3+/CD8+ ratio are associated with adverse prognosis in resectable gastric cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2010; 136(10):1585–95.

84. Zeestraten ECM, van Hoesel AQ, Speetjens FM, Menon AG, Putter H, van de Velde CJH et al. FoxP3- and CD8-positive Infiltrating Immune Cells Together Determine Clinical Outcome in Colorectal Cancer. Cancer Microenviron 2013; 6(1):31–9.

85. Fritzsching B, Fellenberg J, Moskovszky L, Sápi Z, Krenacs T, Machado I et al. CD8+/FOXP3+-ratio in osteosarcoma microenvironment separates survivors from non-survivors: a multicenter validated retrospective study. Oncoimmunology 2015; 4(3):e990800.

86. Kato K, Shah MA, Enzinger P, Bennouna J, Shen L, Adenis A et al. KEYNOTE-590: Phase III study of first-line chemotherapy with or without pembrolizumab for advanced esophageal cancer. Future Oncology 2019; 15(10):1057–66.

87. Gao Y, Li S, Xu D, Chen S, Cai Y, Jiang W et al. Prognostic value of programmed death-1, programmed death-ligand 1, programmed death-ligand 2 expression, and CD8(+) T cell density in primary tumors and metastatic lymph nodes from patients with stage T1-4N+M0 gastric adenocarcinoma. Chin J Cancer 2017; 36(1):61.

88. Chang H, Jung WY, Kang Y, Lee H, Kim A, Kim HK et al. Programmed death-ligand 1 expression in gastric adenocarcinoma is a poor prognostic factor in a high CD8+ tumor infiltrating lymphocytes group. Oncotarget 2016; 7(49):80426–34.

89. Dai C, Wang M, Lu J, Dai Z, Lin S, Yang P et al. Prognostic and predictive values of PD-L1 expression in patients with digestive system cancer: a meta-analysis. Onco Targets Ther 2017; 10:3625–34.

90. Svensson MC, Borg D, Zhang C, Hedner C, Nodin B, Uhlén M et al. Expression of PD-L1 and PD-1 in Chemoradiotherapy-Naïve Esophageal and Gastric Adenocarcinoma: Relationship With Mismatch Repair Status and Survival. Front Oncol 2019; 9:136.

91. Kollmann D, Ignatova D, Jedamzik J, Chang Y-T, Jomrich G, Paireder M et al. Expression of Programmed Cell Death Protein 1 by Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Tumor Cells is Associated with Advanced Tumor Stage in Patients with Esophageal Adenocarcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 2017; 24(9):2698–706.

92. Jiang D, Song Q, Wang H, Huang J, Wang H, Hou J et al. Independent prognostic role of PD-L1expression in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget 2017; 8(5):8315–29.

93. Däster S, Eppenberger-Castori S, Mele V, Schäfer HM, Schmid L, Weixler B et al. Low Expression of Programmed Death 1 (PD-1), PD-1 Ligand 1 (PD-L1), and Low CD8+ T Lymphocyte Infiltration Identify a Subgroup of Patients With Gastric and Esophageal Adenocarcinoma With Severe Prognosis. Front. Med. 2020; 7:144.

94. Mirjolet C, Charon-Barra C, Ladoire S, Arbez-Gindre F, Bertaut A, Ghiringhelli F et al. Tumor lymphocyte immune response to preoperative radiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer: The LYMPHOREC study. Oncoimmunology 2018; 7(3):e1396402.

95. Yoneda K, Kuwata T, Kanayama M, Mori M, Kawanami T, Yatera K et al. Alteration in tumoural PD-L1 expression and stromal CD8-positive tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes after concurrent chemo-radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Br J Cancer 2019; 121(6):490–6.

96. Böger C, Behrens H-M, Mathiak M, Krüger S, Kalthoff H, Röcken C. PD-L1 is an independent prognostic predictor in gastric cancer of Western patients. Oncotarget 2016; 7(17):24269–83.

97. Tang Y, Li G, Wu S, Tang L, Zhang N, Liu J et al. Programmed death ligand 1 expression in esophageal cancer following definitive chemoradiotherapy: Prognostic significance and association with inflammatory biomarkers. Oncol Lett 2018; 15(4):4988–96.

98. Christina Svensson M, Lindén A, Nygaard J, Borg D, Hedner C, Nodin B et al. T cells, B cells, and PD-L1 expression in esophageal and gastric adenocarcinoma before and after

neoadjuvant chemotherapy: relationship with histopathological response and survival. Oncoimmunology 2021; 10(1):1921443.

99. Yu Y, Ma X, Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Ying J, Zhang W et al. Changes in Expression of Multiple Checkpoint Molecules and Infiltration of Tumor Immune Cells after Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Gastric Cancer. J Cancer 2019; 10(12):2754–63.

100. Hecht M, Büttner-Herold M, Erlenbach-Wünsch K, Haderlein M, Croner R, Grützmann R et al. PD-L1 is upregulated by radiochemotherapy in rectal adenocarcinoma patients and associated with a favourable prognosis. Eur J Cancer 2016; 65:52–60.

101. Mesnage SJL, Auguste A, Genestie C, Dunant A, Pain E, Drusch F et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) increases immune infiltration and programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression in epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC). Ann Oncol 2017; 28(3):651–7.

102. Leduc C, Adam J, Louvet E, Sourisseau T, Dorvault N, Bernard M et al. TPF induction chemotherapy increases PD-L1 expression in tumour cells and immune cells in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. ESMO Open 2018; 3(1):e000257.

103. Gullo I, Carneiro F, Oliveira C, Almeida GM. Heterogeneity in Gastric Cancer: From Pure Morphology to Molecular Classifications. Pathobiology 2018; 85(1-2):50–63.

Biographical note

Personal Information	
Name:	Holger Göbel, M.D.
Date of Birth:	January 25 th 1959
Place of Birth:	Coburg, Germany
Marital status:	Married, 3 children
Nationality:	German
Religion:	Roman catholic
School Education	
1969 – 1978	Gymnasium Ernestinum in Coburg
1978	German University entrance qualification examination (Abitur); grade point average 1.1
University Education	
May 1985	Promotion (M.D.) magna cum laude
October 1978 – October 1984	Human Medicine at the University of Erlangen, Germany
September 1980	First Section of the Physician's Examination,
September 1983	Second Section of the Physician's Examination
October 1983 - September 1984	Final Year Electives
	Gynaecology and Obstetrics, Staatl. Frauenklinik Bamberg
	Surgery, Klinikum Bamberg
	Internal Medicine, Klinikum Bamberg
October 1984	Third Section of the Physician's Examination Predicate: 1.5
Work Experience	
Since March 2020	Medical director of Regiomed Klinikum Lichtenfels
May 2009	Medical specialist in Medical Treatment in Oncology
Since January 2003	Head physician, Department of Gastroenterology,

REGIOMED Klinikum Lichtenfels

October 1998 to December 2002	Head physician, Department of Internal Medicine, Klinik Bad Windsheim
October 1998	Medical specialist in Diabetology
January 1994	Medical specialist in Gastroenterology with Radiology and Sonography
March 1993 to September 1998	Senior physician, Department of Gastroenterology, Klinikum Coburg
January 1992	Medical specialist in Internal Medicine with Radiology
April 1985 to February 1993	Assistant physician, Department of Internal Medicine, Klinikum Coburg

Languages

German	Mother tongue
English	Oral and written
Italian	Basic
Latin	Advanced